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Preface





In the winter of 1992/93 I was asked by Faber and Faber if I would be interested in writing a short book about Harold Pinter: about his work, his political ideas and the way in which these relate to his life. The word ‘short’ now seems rather ironic. In the course of the research and writing, the book has grown into the current somewhat lengthy blend of analysis and biography.


There are several reasons for this. Even though there are numerous excellent critical studies of Pinter’s work (not least, Martin Esslin’s), there are hardly any that seek to place the work in the developing context of his life. It has always been assumed that the plays sprang more or less fully formed from his imagination and were largely divorced from private circumstance. The more I discovered about the plays, however, the more they seemed to be connected to Pinter’s recollections of his own experience. Yet there is another, more crucial, reason why the book grew in scale and changed in format as it went along, which has to do with the attitude of Harold Pinter himself. He has always been a man who jealously guards his private life from journalistic intrusion, but he agreed to sit down with me on a number of occasions and talk about his past, not least his early days in Hackney. He also gave me access to his immaculately preserved cuttings books, and made it clear that I was at liberty to talk to his friends and colleagues. Antonia Fraser, his second wife, was also enormously helpful, both in exploring the Pinter family background and in providing insights into her husband’s character and work.


I am extremely grateful to the Pinters for their help; but the book was not conceived as the definitive biography. It is, rather, a highly subjective interpretation of Pinter’s work as seen in the context of his life. It is also an attempt to unlock some of the mysteries and answer some of the questions surrounding the two. Cyril Connolly once attacked the tendency of modern criticism to explain a writer in terms of his sexual experience or economic background: ‘I still believe’, he wrote, ‘that this technique remains the soundest basis for a diagnosis, that it should be possible to learn as much about an author’s income and sex life from one paragraph of his writing as from his cheque stubs and his love letters.’ I have some sympathy with Connolly, which is why the bulk of my book focuses on Pinter’s writing: his obsessive themes and dramatic method. But in many quarters Pinter is seen as an enigmatic writer, and accordingly I have tried to show how one key to the enigma is the way his major plays are all informed by some crucial life experience. In the end, nothing can explain how a work of art is achieved; biographical information can occasionally open one’s eyes.


This book could not have been written without a good deal of help from various people who, either through interview or correspondence, supplied me with invaluable information. I happily acknowledge my debt to them all: Anthony Astbury, Joan Bakewell, Michael Bakewell, Melvyn Bragg, Barbara Bray, Adrian Brine, Michael Codron, Kenneth Cranham, Alan Curtis, Judy Daish, Eileen Diss, Paul Eddington, Susan Engel, Barry Foster, Donald Freed, Michael Goldstein, Gawn Grainger, Simon Gray, Kenneth Haigh, Peter Hall, Dilys Hamlett, Ronald Harwood, David Jones, Jill Johnson, Eric Kahane, B. J. Law, David Leveaux, Andrew Lovibond, Ian McEwan, Christopher Morahan, Arthur Miller, Jennifer Mortimer, Edna O’Brien, Roger Lloyd Pack, Donald Pleasence, Auriol Smith, Guy Vaesen, Morris Wernick, Henry Woolf.


Other people also deserve special mention for their extraordinary kindness and help: Sally Brown, curator of modern literary manuscripts at the British Library, who gave me valuable access to the Pinter Archive; Humphrey Carpenter, who generously sent me copies of BBC documents relating to Pinter’s early years; Francis Gillen, who sent me every edition of the Pinter Review, an annual treasure-trove for all students of the work and which informed much of my thinking; Caroline Keely, who was Pinter’s secretary during the period of the book’s writing and who patiently answered any number of queries; and Fiona McLean, who produced for Radio 3 a sixtieth-birthday programme on Pinter which I presented and who, in a sense, set me off on the trail.


The book could not have been written without the help of many of Pinter’s old friends and theatrical colleagues. They have provided me with information, offered critical insights and stimulated thought; but in the end, the opinions expressed both about Pinter’s work and life are entirely and argumentatively my own.






















One


Hackney Lad





Evening. Winter. A room in Holland Park lined with books, manuscripts, family photographs. Two men talking. The occupant of the room is Harold Pinter, the visitor is myself. He is relaxed, hospitable, secure in his favourite chair; I am the inevitable invader of his territory. He pours a generous glass of white wine and jokingly recalls how a previous visitor mistook the tiny drinks-stool he placed in front of her for a seat on which she precariously perched. I make a mental note not to make the same mistake. But it’s a measure of Pinter’s hold on our imagination that even a professional encounter is shadowed by recollections of his plays: the notion that any conversation between two people conceals a tactical battle for advantage. What also comes across as we rake over his past is the imagistic nature of his memory. Key episodes of his youth are recalled with intense clarity, but he is often vague on precise dates. As his wife Antonia Fraser later tells me, ‘Harold’s memory is not linear at all. He’s got a memory like a camera as if he’s taking shots. Occasionally they are moving photographs: extraordinarily sharp and vivid, but not necessarily connected.’ Memory is a theme that will recur throughout all my conversations with Pinter.


I am at the start of an attempt to crack the Pinter code. Who is he? What makes him tick? Why do his plays have such tenacity? And why is it that they have reached out far beyond the hermetic world of drama addicts to become part of the general culture? Even those who rarely set foot inside a theatre have heard of the Pinter pause, and the epithet ‘Pinteresque’ is now included in The New Shorter Oxford English Dictionary: ‘of, pertaining to, or characteristic of the British playwright, Harold Pinter, or his works’, it somewhat evasively says. It further defines the word through an example culled from the Listener: ‘Everyone talked like overheard conversations … They invented a word for it – Pinteresque.’ Who is this mysterious figure who has spawned his own adjective?


Harold Pinter was born on 10 October 1930 in Hackney, just beyond the borders of the traditional East End. He was the son of Jack Pinter, a hard-working ladies’ tailor who eventually built up his own firm in Stoke Newington, and his wife Frances (née Moskowitz). The family home was at 19 Thistlewaite Road: a solid, red-brick, three-storey villa just off the noisy, bustling, traffic-ridden thoroughfare of the Lower Clapton Road. Round the corner was the minuscule Clapton Pond, a token bit of rus in urbe. Down the road was the Lea River, a gloomy tributary of the Thames. Nearby were shops and factories. In The Queen of all the Fairies, an unpublished autobiographical memoir written in his early twenties, Pinter vividly evoked the Hackney of his youth:




It brimmed over with milk bars, Italian cafés, Fifty Shilling tailors and barber shops. Prams and busy ramshackle stalls clogged up the main street – street violinists, trumpeters, matchsellers. Many Jews lived in the district, noisy but candid; mostly taxi drivers and pressers, machinists and cutters who steamed all day in their workshop ovens. Up the hill lived the richer, the ‘better-class’ Jews, strutting with their mink-coats and American suits and ties. Bookmakers, jewellers and furriers with gownshops in Great Portland Street.





The Pinter family, who were certainly not in that league, were part of the immigrant wave of Jews that arrived in the East End around the turn of the century and fanned out towards the North London boroughs of Hackney, Islington and Stoke Newington. According to the historian V. D. Lipman, North London Jewry was around 40,000-strong by 1930. A constant feature of the Pinter legend, repeated in all the books, is that the family were Sephardic Jews of Spanish or Portuguese origin and that the original family name was Pinto, da Pinto or da Pinta, but there seems no evidence for this whatsoever. Indeed Antonia Fraser, with a historian’s passion for genealogy, sat down with Pinter’s parents one afternoon after lunch in Holland Park and discovered the real story: three of Pinter’s grandparents hail from Poland and one from Odessa, making them Ashkenazic rather than Sephardic Jews. They imported from East Europe a residual love of culture, a memory of suffering and an extraordinary resilience.


There were, however, marked differences between the two sides of Pinter’s family: his father’s relations were the cultivated ones, while his mother’s were the more cheerful and fun loving. Both, however, had their share of domestic tragedy. Pinter’s paternal grandfather Nathan was born in Poland in 1870 and came to England alone in 1900 in the wave of Russian pogroms. He later went back for his wife and family. Nathan, who settled first in Stepney and later in Amhurst Road, Stoke Newington, was a quiet man who worked in the garment trade specialising in ladies’ wear. According to Pinter’s parents, he always gave in to his dominating wife, born Fanny Baron, who was regarded as ‘the real boss’. Fanny was a good-looking woman, small but powerful, who had trained as a ladies’ hairdresser in Poland, ran her own business in Stepney and preferred listening to records by the great Beethoven and Mozart pianist Arthur Schnabel to doing housework. Her grandson Harold was deeply fond of her and, although he told Antonia Fraser in 1995 that he had forgotten his grandmother’s maiden name was Baron, it can hardly be coincidence that he adopted it as his stage-name or, indeed, used it for the autobiographical character of Mark in the first draft of The Dwarfs.


The pacific Nathan and the indomitable Fanny were oddly matched but very happy – indeed, they had a large family of five children. The eldest, Rachel, was born in Poland in 1897 and died childless. The second, Sophie, was born in England in 1900 and was not only an excellent pianist but married a taxi driver, Isidor Lipstein, who was renowned in the family for his Communism, chess-playing and musical gifts. The love of music was inherited by their daughter Sue, whose son Steve eventually became a rock guitarist with an American band. The third child Jack, Harold Pinter’s father, was born in the East End in 1902, to be followed by two more children, Mary and Dolly. The young Harold adored this musical and lively family, not least Aunt Sophie and cousin Sue, both of whom tragically committed suicide in the early 1960s. Yet what is clear is that the Pinters were a close-knit family in which the musical passions of the formidable Fanny were passed on from one generation to the next.


If one side of the family had artistic leanings, the other side was noted for its entrepreneurial flair and Cockney gaiety. Pinter’s maternal grandfather Harry Moskowitz was born in Odessa and is remembered both for his handsome appearance (‘he looked like Stalin’) and business acumen. He arrived in London around 1900 via Paris and even though he was barely able to write his name and was lacking any skilled trade, he lived off his wits. He would pass pawn shops, see trousers in the window and then renovate them. Indeed, having bought a sewing machine he created his own clothing business, trading as Richard Mann, and employed six or seven commercial travellers. After the death of his first wife, whom he had met in South Africa, he married Polish-born Rose Franklin and they had four children. The eldest, Pinter’s mother Frances, was born in 1904. It was she who as a young girl taught her father how to write and kept his account books for him. The second child, Ben, had a tragic life. After the death of his wife Fay from cancer, he took his own life and that of his baby daughter. (Pinter, as a boy, loved the tiny baby and was deeply distressed.) The third child, Judah, born in 1907 was an enormous ox of a man and became an East End boxer, fighting under the name of Joe Mann. He was the black sheep of the family. The last son, Lou, was born in 1918 and is still alive.


Although the family history was laced with tragedy, the Moskowitzes were a resilient, exuberant lot. When Jack Pinter and Frances Moskowitz got married on 9 June 1926, the East End wedding reception lasted from two in the afternoon until two the next morning. It proved so exhausting that they delayed their Bournemouth honeymoon and spent the night at Stamford Hill. Even when they got to Bournemouth, members of the Moskowitz clan came chasing after them to find out, somewhat superfluously, why they hadn’t written. If he didn’t realise it already, Jack Pinter soon found that he had married into a gregarious family that teemed with relations. Frances’s mother Rose had three sisters who between them had five children who were all regular visitors at the big family gatherings. Pinter vividly remembers these cousins as ‘real Cockney barrel organ as compared to the piano-playing and Schnabel records of Granny Pinter and Aunt Sophie.’ But it was the black sheep Uncle Judah who left the most indelible impression on the young Pinter.


‘This is a true story,’ he says, ‘and it happened about 1940 or ’41. I never saw Uncle Judah fight, but he definitely was a boxer – whether professional or not, I don’t know. But he fought in the East End and lived for a while round the corner from my parents’ house in Thistlewaite Road. At that time, my grandmother Rose was living with us during the Blitz. We had the Morrison shelter and incendiaries in the back garden and all that. Anyway, one day Judah disappeared. He didn’t die in a raid or anything. He simply moved out of his room. He’d gone. My grandmother and mother were absolutely appalled. He didn’t say goodbye or anything. He didn’t explain himself. About seven or eight months later, my grandmother, my mother and I were walking along the street by Clapton Pond. I was about eleven. Suddenly a great big dustbin-van passed and on it was Judah. He was just hanging off the back of this dustbin-van. My mother and grandmother looked up and I was agape. They cried out loudly, “JUDAH!”, and he looked at the three of us and unequivocally raised two fingers and the van went on … and we never saw him again … I’ve been looking for him all my life and I’ve never found him.’


As a boy, Pinter grew up in a large extended family. There were constant get-togethers at the paternal grandparents’ in Amhurst Road until Nathan’s death in 1939. Passover – the Jewish festival commemorating the liberation of the Israelites from Egyptian bondage – was always a big event. The young Harold participated in the ritual of the symbolic descent of the Angel of Death which was always followed by a long, and significantly dramatic, pause. Grandma Fanny was also the life and soul of the party, though as in any family there were hidden tensions. Jack Pinter’s branch of the family were Orthodox Jewish, while Frances’s side – the Moskowitzes and the Franklins – were much more secular and sceptical. On one occasion, when Frances was asked if she was going to synagogue, she replied firmly, ‘No, the synagogue is for those who feel they have a strong sense of sin.’ There was also a strong suspicion that the house-proud Frances never approved of Grandma Fanny’s slapdash attitude to domesticity. However, in general the family gatherings were cheerful, convivial affairs, with the cultivated, music-loving Pinters blending with the noisy, robustly extrovert Moskowitzes and Franklins.


The boy Harold clearly inherited qualities from both sides of the clan: the artistic instinct of the Pinters and the religious scepticism of the Moskowitzes. Equally important is that while being part of a large extended family, he was also the sole son of loving Jewish parents. He was the exclusive focus of their attention while possessing the only child’s natural capacity for introversion. He was cherished by his parents and his adoring grandparents, aunts and uncles but, although from the age of six he attended an elementary school just by Clapton Pond, he had on his own admission few friends of his own age. One result was that from early on in life he developed a capacity for imaginative dialogue.


‘I don’t know,’ he says, ‘how it would have changed my life if I’d had brothers and sisters, but I can say one thing. I created a small body of imaginary friends in the back garden when I was about eight or nine. We had a lilac tree with an arch and beyond that arch was an untended piece of garden. I made that my home where I met these invisible friends who certainly weren’t brothers and sisters but were definitely all boys. I had this total fantasy life in which we talked aloud and held conversations beyond the lilac tree. There was also – still is apparently – a laundry at the back of the garden so I was having this fantasy life with the laundry roaring away.’ Out of solitude came the dramatic urge to create characters and exchange dialogue. The image of the back garden also took root in Pinter’s mind, reappearing in his autobiographical novel The Dwarfs (‘The sun was setting. Lilac hung heavy on the arched tree. The garden flickered’). This same garden – where in his late teens Pinter would sometimes sleep out under the stars with school friends – was the first in a whole series of private Edens that were to haunt Pinter’s later work.


For all his tendency to reclusiveness, his home in Thistlewaite Road clearly represented for Pinter a haven of love, warmth and security. That childhood idyll was fractured by the outbreak of war in 1939 when he was summarily uprooted from his Hackney home as part of a nationwide evacuation process. Along with twenty-four children from his elementary school – all of different ages – he was sent to stay in a John Nash, mock-Gothic castle, complete with fabricated battlements, at Caerhays about five miles along the Cornish coast from Mevagissey and owned by a Major Williams. It is hard to exaggerate the impact of this sudden expulsion on a solitary, sensitive nine-year-old used to being the spotlit focus of his parents’ love. Ruth Inglis in The Children’s War has charted the complex psychological effects of evacuation. For some children separation from a secure home and maternal affection was a traumatic and disturbing experience. For other working-class city kids it involved a first magical eye-opening encounter with rural life. For Pinter it seems to have had strong elements of both. It reinforced his tendency to introspection while at the same time opening him up to sounds and images that permeate his adult life and work.


His prime memories of evacuation today are of loneliness, bewilderment, separation and loss: themes that recur in all his works. The boys slept on uncomfortable wooden bunks in converted stables in the castle grounds. The teacher who accompanied them from Hackney, Mr Nelson, was an authoritarian figure who was known to the boys as ‘big fat Nelly with the cast-iron belly’ and who had ‘a great habit of hitting you in the back with the knuckle of his middle finger extended’. The pain of being uprooted was intensified by the sudden news of distant death: one of Pinter’s friends, Maurice, was thunderstruck to learn that his parents had been killed in a London air raid. But according to Pinter, separation from parents was hardly distinguishable from death. And even brief reunions were accompanied by the most heart-wrenching partings. Pinter’s own parents, Jack and Frances, could ill afford the rail fare to Cornwall and when they did come down there were highly emotional and tearful farewells. ‘On one visit,’ Pinter recalls, ‘when they left to get the bus it was a long way back to the lodge for me to walk. But I went all the way to the castle and looked back and could just see them as pinpoints waiting for the bus on the road; and I suddenly ran all the way back to them over the mounds of grass, racing towards them and of course they came towards me too.’ The image is lodged in Pinter’s memory.


Yet, along with the sense of exile and confusion, evacuation brought acute moments of self-realisation. Once when Pinter was having tea with his parents, his mother automatically gave him a cake from her own plate. The other boys spotted this and taunted him for weeks afterwards about being hopelessly spoilt. In these hothouse circumstances, the slightly sheltered Pinter also became aware for the first time of the low cunning and potential Lord of the Flies-like cruelty of boys in isolation: ‘I think as a result of that loss and confusion one became, generally speaking, nastier; just horrid is the word. I think we were all a bunch of horrid little boys because of the loss of security.’ Pinter was also deeply sensitive to the silence and sullen quietude of this remote part of Cornwall after the noise of Lower Clapton Road. But the image of the rhododendrons he passed on the mile-long morning walk from the stables to the village school, of the lake in the castle grounds, of the glades stumbled across when walking through the local woods, of the roaring Cornish sea with the bay and the cliffs all impressed themselves deeply on his imagination. They permeate his later work such as A Slight Ache, Landscape, Old Times and even Moonlight. But the most formative aspect of the whole evacuation experience was the loss of identity and the sense of living in some strange in-between world: an emotional no man’s land. ‘There was,’ says Pinter, ‘no fixed sense of being … of being … at all.’


Proof that evacuation to Cornwall – although it lasted only a year – had a profound influence on Pinter’s childhood sensibility is confirmed by his constant, almost obsessive return visits as an adult. In his late teens he went hitch-hiking round Cornwall with one of his close Hackney friends, Morris Wernick. He took his first wife Vivien Merchant down to Mevagissey on their honeymoon, revisiting all his childhood haunts. And he later went back to Caerhays with his second wife, Antonia Fraser, where they found that the old converted stables, with their punitive memory of bunk beds, still existed. As the Austrian writer Thomas Bernhard points out in his memoir Gathering Evidence, we are drawn back in adult life to scenes of childhood unhappiness which, in his own extreme case, was a wartime home for maladjusted children in a Thuringian forest.


Like many people who grew up during the Second World War, Pinter remembers it through a series of graphic snapshots: as he talks of the past, people, places and incidents come to life in his imagination. A sense of disruption was also a crucial part of the wartime experience. Ironically, having been evacuated from London during the Phoney War in 1940, he was back for the most savage period of the Blitz. But in 1941 he was again evacuated, this time to Reading with his mother. Reading, where he and Frances were billeted with a factory worker’s family, left behind several key memories. It was there that he took, and initially failed, his School Matriculation – the equivalent of the modern CSE – until his strong-minded father challenged the Local Education Authority and discovered that his son had just scraped through. ‘Reading,’ Pinter recalls, ‘was also the place where I did my eyes in through devouring books every night by candlelight’ – a fact of some significance to a writer later obsessed by sightlessness with its overtones of physical helplessness and spiritual impotence. The place also bred an affiliation, understandably short lived, with Reading Football Club, whose games Pinter used to go to every week. That was in total contrast to a later brief wartime stay in Yorkshire which bred a lifetime support of Yorkshire Cricket Club: something that, in view of its capacity for internecine warfare, argues considerable strength of character. Towards the end of the war, after Pinter had gained a place at Hackney Downs Grammar School, he found himself evacuated yet again, this time with his schoolmates to rural Norfolk. Once more the image of a country garden took root in his impressionable memory. ‘That,’ he says, ‘was where the image of A Slight Ache came to me. When I started to write the play in 1959 – fifteen years later – I instantly recalled the image of the Norfolk house to which we were sent in 1944. There was a garden and lots of flowers – honeysuckle, convolvulus, and so on – the like of which I’d never seen before. There wasn’t a matchseller … but that opening image came from Norfolk and, in a sense, triggered the play.’


For the bulk of the war, however, Pinter was in the East End which bore the brunt of the London bombing. The after-myth of war has bred a sense of folksy nostalgia and stoic good cheer of the kind sentimentally celebrated in Lionel Bart’s Blitz! and savagely satirised in Beyond the Fringe, in which Peter Cook wittered on about the delights of popping out in the back garden to plant his carrots and putting on a nice cup of tea. But for those who were young at the time, there was nothing to get sentimental about. Bernard Kops, another embryonic playwright, was four years older than Pinter and living at nearby Bethnal Green. In his memoir The World is a Wedding, he explains how he feels not a shred of nostalgia for the communal spirit of the Blitz; his memory is of the fear and the horror. ‘I stopped being a child’, he wrote, ‘and came face to face with the reality of the world.’ For Pinter too the chief memory is of the life-and-death intensity of daily experience.


‘For a young boy,’ he says, ‘there was a great sense of the dramatic. Sporadic but pretty intense bombardment. Air-raid warnings all the time. A real sense of an extreme and perilous life. The blackout also left a sharp memory. You lived in a world in which in winter after five o’clock it was totally black … with chinks of light flashing on the horizon. I remember when we filmed Elizabeth Bowen’s The Heat of the Day the director Christopher Morahan and I were the only ones on the set who knew exactly what it was like. I loved the sense he got in the film of a world where even the traffic lights were dimmed and where you found your way about with torches. It was also a world that was highly sexual … there was a sexual desperation about the place. People really felt their lives could end tomorrow … Of course you tried to get on with whatever the hell you were doing, but fear was definitely about. You also became frightened on other people’s behalf and you heard of people who bought it – that was the term, “bought it” – in the next street. There was this damned thing called a landmine. There were also incendiaries … at one point we were all evacuated from our house when there was a raid and we opened the door and that famous garden I told you about was alight all along the laundry wall including the lilac tree. We were evacuated straight away. Though not before I took my cricket bat.’


For Pinter the war left behind a set of ineradicable memories, images, sense-impressions. It also represented a speeded-up transition from boyhood to early manhood. Emotionally, he was a straightforward patriot: what else could he be at that time? But in matters of faith he quickly revealed his own stubborn independence. As a well-brought-up Jewish boy he went to classes at Lea Bridge Road shul in preparation for his bar mitzvah. ‘I did it,’ he says, ‘because I knew I had to do it and I had very little control over it. But after the age of thirteen, that was it. I was finished with religion for good.’ That argues peculiar intellectual certainty – influenced by the religious scepticism of the Moskowitz side of the family – in a young boy. Sexually, Pinter was also pretty precocious. One of his earliest sensuous memories is of huddling up to the girl next door – he was about twelve and she was in her twenties – in a Morrison shelter during a wartime air raid. And a year or so later he fell headily in love with a fourteen-year-old girl in Thistlewaite Road – an experience that brought out his inherent taste for the dramatic.


‘I didn’t know what to do about it,’ he recalls. ‘I kept seeing this girl pass up and down the street. I couldn’t speak to her. So I phoned her pretending to be an American soldier and said how much I admired her. I put on an American accent and said I would be at the gates of Springfield Park, which was quite close by, at a certain time on a certain day. She said, “I’ve never heard of such a thing in all my life. How dare you? Who are you?” And so on. Anyway, I went to the gates of Springfield Park and she turned up. I remember it well because it was a drizzly day and she came to the gates and saw me standing there forlornly in a raincoat and cried out, “Harold Pinter! What on earth are you doing here?” I said I just wanted to see her, and we had a tortured relationship that lasted through the year.’


At the start of the war Pinter was a cosseted, protected, but emotionally solitary boy swathed in the affection of a large extended family. By the end of the war his paternal grandfather Nathan and his maternal grandmother Rose were both dead and he himself had experienced the pain of evacuation, the pangs of young love, the cruelty of his contemporaries, the fear of being bombed to oblivion and the daily drama of life in the East End. It is hardly surprising that he grew up with a sense of the precariousness and fragility of existence. But the war also seems to have heightened in him the power of what Proust called ‘involuntary memory’: the idea that a fragment of one’s experience, suddenly overtaking one or conjured up from the depths of one’s consciousness, can convey the full quality of the past. All writing, to some extent, is memory; but Pinter’s particular gift is to seize on those visual or sensory flashbacks and invest them with dramatic significance. In the extremity of war every experience – Spitfires in the Cornish sky, the London Blitz and the V1s and V2s, the blackout, the musky aroma of sex, even the sights and sounds of nature – acquired a heightened urgency. Like many children who grew up in wartime, Pinter had a strong sense of life’s drama and impermanence; and, like any incipient artist, he was alert to the significance of his own experience.




   





Books also forged and shaped Pinter’s imagination. There were not that many around the house. His mother enjoyed reading the novels of Arnold Bennett and A. J. Cronin, but his father – who left the house at 7 a.m. each morning and returned twelve hours later – had little spare time for reading and not much money to buy books. Yet Pinter’s own literary tastes were already taking shape. He started writing poetry at the age of twelve, and he soon discovered the joys of Hackney Public Library: ‘a fountain of life’, he calls it. Without any prompting from teachers, he started reading voraciously on his own initiative: Dostoevsky, Rimbaud, Woolf, Lawrence, Eliot, Hemingway – anything he could lay his hands on. What is revealing is that he seems to have quickly got through the Biggles-and-Just William stage, bypassed many of the standard classics – though he was given a Collected Shakespeare by his parents at the age of fourteen – and plunged straight into the whirlpool of Modernism: a reflection, not just of his own intellectual precocity but of the uncertain times in which he was brought up. And at fifteen he bought a copy of Joyce’s Ulysses, somewhat to the dismay of his parents. ‘That,’ he says, ‘wasn’t taken very well for the simple reason that my parents had heard about it … they didn’t look into it but they knew there was something fishy about it. My father, in fact, told me to take it off the living-room bookshelf. He said he wouldn’t have a book like that in a room where my mother served dinner.’


If Hackney Public Library was an intellectual treasure-house, Hackney Downs Grammar School, where Pinter spent the formative years from 1944 to 1948, was an endless source of self-discovery. Most budding writers have a wretched time at school. But, although there were occasional clashes with bone-headed teachers, Pinter discovered his true potential at Hackney Downs. He encountered one of those enlightened English teachers who opens up new horizons, made a number of lifelong friends and explored his own intellectual and sporting potential. If there is a golden period in Pinter’s young life, it was in his late teens; and if his work is full of the echoes and memories of some lost paradise, then the Grammar School years are his own personal touchstone.


The school itself has had an extraordinary history. It was founded in the 1870s by the Grocers’ Company in exact imitation of a Prussian prototype. It was handed over to the then London County Council early in the century and, in the 1940s, by virtue of Hackney demographics, had an over 50 per cent Jewish intake and a high regard for learning. In its time it has produced two life peers, two university vice-chancellors and two famous actor-playwrights in Pinter and Steven Berkoff. Sadly, it was closed by the Secretary of State for Education and Employment in 1995 because of falling standards, but in Pinter’s day it encouraged – at least among the staff – an eccentric individualism. The most influential figure on Pinter was an English teacher called Joe Brearley: a tall Yorkshireman who suffered from malaria, had been torpedoed at sea in the war and who was wont to march down corridors crying at the top of his voice, ‘Othello’s occupation’s gone.’ In fact, Brearley seemed to have found his métier in Hackney and passed on his passion for English poetry and drama to Pinter and other pupils. For Pinter, Brearley became counsellor, intellectual mentor and lifelong friend. ‘We embarked,’ Pinter remembers, ‘on a series of long walks, which continued for years, starting from Hackney Downs, up to Springfield Park, along the River Lea, back up Lea Bridge Road, past Clapton Pond, through Mare Street to Bethnal Green.’ On their walks they would declaim passages from Webster into the wind or at passing trolley-buses. Fifty years later, when receiving the David Cohen British Literature Prize, Pinter would recall: ‘That language made me dizzy. Joe Brearley fired my imagination. I can never forget him.’


Inspired by Brearley, Pinter shone at English, wrote for the school magazine and discovered a gift for acting. But it was in those years, partly through the school and partly through the social life of Hackney Boys’ Club, that Pinter – until then a natural loner – formed an almost sacerdotal belief in the power of male friendship. The friends he made in those days – most particularly Henry Woolf, Michael (Mick) Goldstein and Morris (Moishe) Wernick – have always been a vital part of the emotional texture of his life. Even fifty years later, though Woolf and Wernick live in Canada and Goldstein in Australia, they still correspond regularly and miss no opportunity for London reunions. If the notion of male loyalty, competitive rivalry and fear of betrayal forms a constant thread in Pinter’s work from The Dwarfs onwards, its origins can be found in his teenage Hackney years. Pinter adores women, enjoys flirting with them, worships their resilience and strength. But, in his early work especially, they are often seen as disruptive influences on some pure, Platonic ideal of male friendship: one of the most crucial of all Pinter’s lost Edens.


Talking and writing to members of the Hackney gang now, I sense that what united them was a love of intellectual adventure and a shared ironic sense of humour. Calling themselves, slightly self-consciously, ‘The Boys’, they were clannish, close-knit and both envied and resented by outsiders. Apart from Pinter, Woolf, Goldstein and Wernick, the key members of the gang were Ron Percival – blond, proud, demonic and the prototype of Pete in the novel and play of The Dwarfs – and B.J. (Jimmy) Law – a keen scholar and musician who fiercely contested Pinter’s zealous admiration for Dylan Thomas and D. H. Lawrence. What bound them together was not precisely the school (since Goldstein went to nearby Raine’s Foundation School), or Jewishness (since both Percival and Law were Gentiles), or even geography (though they were all avid table-tennis-playing members of Hackney Boys’ Club), but a passion for intellectual discovery and argument about ideas. ‘It was that,’ says Pinter, ‘and the sense of all being of independent mind. Not one of us adhered without question to any given, to any state of affairs or system of thought. Not one of us. That was what we all recognised in each other.’


That absolute refusal to accept handed-down truths – whether in religion, politics or art – remains the eternal constant in Pinter’s character. Antonia Fraser says, ‘I don’t think Harold would accept anything, except the laws of cricket, without question.’ But, although the Grammar School period was a golden age for Pinter and he was always a charismatic figure, he was in no way undisputed leader of the pack: each member of the group had his own area of expertise. Pinter knew a lot about literature and modern poetry, from Ezra Pound to George Barker, as well as about foreign films; he would take everyone off to see Buñuel’s Un Chien Andalou at Imperial College Film Society or Jean Gabin in Le Jour s’éleve or L’Atalante at the People’s Palace in Mile End Road. Goldstein, like Jimmy Law, was highly knowledgeable about music and would talk animatedly about Beethoven’s Late Quartets and would occasionally whisk Pinter off to Sunday concerts at the Conway Hall in Red Lion Square. Woolf was keen on fiction and, having discovered Joyce Cary’s The Horse’s Mouth – with its unforgettable portrait of the Bohemian artist Gully Jimson – made everyone read it. But talk and a passion for ideas were what fuelled and animated the group; they were more like a gang of European café intellectuals than the kind of residually philistine young men you find in most English public schools. They had very little money, but that didn’t matter. As Woolf says, quoting Muriel Spark’s The Girls of Slender Means, ‘It was just after the war when all the nice people were poor.’ Outside school hours, the gang would meet up in the Boys’ Club, ‘bowl about the streets of Hackney’ in Woolf’s phrase, or drop into each other’s homes for intense discussions about life, literature and philosophy. ‘At one of these late-night tea-tastings,’ says Goldstein, ‘I recall Harold quoting Cardinal Newman to me about the creation being a vast aboriginal calamity. I never forgot the phrase because it seemed to me beneath the surface of our talk lay the empty, gaping black hole which for me Schubert – and much later on, Beckett – knew all about.’ If Goldstein never forgot the phrase, neither did Pinter. The notion that beneath the surface of daily existence lie desolation and emptiness permeates his work; and the idea that one has to carry on stoically in spite of the fact that ‘everything’s a calamity’ is actually voiced by the young actor Mark who is Pinter’s spokesman in The Dwarfs.


It was at this time that Pinter, already besotted by poetry and fiction, woke up to the power of drama. Joe Brearley – who was an adopted paternal member of the gang – dragged them all off to see Donald Wolfit playing Shakespeare at the People’s Palace in the East End and at the Bedford, Camden Town. In 1947 he also took them up West to see Michael Benthall’s production of The White Devil at the Duchess starring Margaret Rawlings and Robert Helpmann. ‘It made ordinary life,’ says Woolf, ‘seem terribly boring. This was life to the power of twenty-three. It had a terrific impact on Harold and the rest of us.’ Webster’s poetry – ‘tangy and bitter, full of warning and irrepressibly sombre’ in the words of Kenneth Tynan writing about that same production – left its dark imprint on Pinter’s imagination and on much of his early verse. Not only did he stroll through Hackney declaiming Webster with Brearley; even today I’ve heard him round off a supper party by quoting from memory Bosola’s dirge in The Duchess of Malfi, relishing the lines ‘Their life a general mist of error, Their death a hideous storm of terror’ and playfully asking guests to identify the source. And when Andy in Moonlight declares ‘The past is a mist’ you can still hear the influence of Webster’s chill compression on Pinter’s language and thought.


Pinter’s theatregoing was accompanied by a discovery of the joy of acting. One day in 1947 Brearley announced to the class that he would do a production of Macbeth, adding somewhat peremptorily, ‘And you, Pinter, will play Macbeth.’ And so he did, wearing the khaki uniform of a modern British soldier. ‘I was so pleased with this uniform,’ says Pinter, ‘that I wore it on the 38 bus to go home to tea after the dress-rehearsal. Old ladies smiled at me. The bus conductor looked at me and said, “Well, I don’t know what to charge you.”’ Even more surprising than Pinter’s infatuation with uniform is that he earned his first recognition in print from Alan Dent, whom Brearley persuaded to come and review the production in the News Chronicle. ‘All in all’, wrote Dent, ‘it was a clearly spoken, though dimly lit, production and Master Harold Pinter made a more eloquent, more obviously nerve-racked Macbeth than one or two professional grown-ups I have seen in the part of late years.’ Heady praise for any boy-actor. That it meant a lot to Pinter was proved when he and Dent met in a TV studio in the mid-1960s during the recording of an arts programme. Dent was somewhat embarrassed because he’d been noticeably cool about Pinter’s early plays. According to the nervous critic, Pinter assured him, ‘Don’t you worry about that, Mr Dent. You gave me the most treasured notice I ever had as an actor and I still keep it at home tucked away in my Shakespeare.’ Pinter’s acclaimed thane was followed a year later by an equally admired Romeo who, according to the school magazine, ‘flung himself on the floor of the Friar’s cell in passionate histrionic abandon’. All this fired Pinter’s ambition to be an actor. It also – as often happens in the hothouse atmosphere of school plays – seems to have opened up unexpected feelings. Pinter’s heterosexuality has never been much in doubt, but playing opposite him in the school play was the blondly beautiful Ron Percival who was both a close friend and an intellectual antagonist. Describing Percival as an extraordinary force, Pinter remarks, ‘Don’t forget that he was my Lady Macbeth. I’m not saying we fell in love with each other at that point.’ Pinter never uses words lightly: he leaves behind the impression that there was a strong element of adolescent infatuation about his relationship with the magnetic, Mephistophelean Percival.


If acting whetted Pinter’s appetite for theatre, sport satisfied his fierce competitive instinct. Cricket – the perfect Pinter game in that it combines individual skill with team loyalty – was his prime passion. He was a goodish batsman, would listen to the early-morning radio commentaries from Australia in the winter of 1947 and nip off to Lord’s with Michael Goldstein for the opening game of the season. Cricket even gave him a hero to worship, because of his wartime sojourn in Yorkshire, in Len Hutton. ‘At school,’ he says, ‘I was also a fairly good soccer-player … Centre-forward … I was on occasion a bit of a cheat. On one immortal occasion in a house-match … I never forget it … I cried out in agony and collapsed. The whole game stopped … and I got up and continued and scored a goal. It was disgraceful … But my one real strength was sprinting. It’s true I didn’t really train but I was fast … I think this is why I lost contact with a friend I’d made around the age of twelve called Barry Supple. When I was sixteen I beat him in the 220 yards and broke the school record. He trained hard and was a beautiful stylist, whereas I had no style whatsoever. I beat him by brute force … and we haven’t spoken for fifty years. He had a hell of a career and went on to become Master of a Cambridge college. But we never quite hit it off after that race and I don’t think he’s ever forgiven me.’ Nor has Pinter, with his photographic memory for the crucial incidents in his life, ever forgotten it. But just as significant as Pinter’s athletic skill is the fact that the school sports field was at Lower Edmonton: the place where Stanley in The Birthday Party gave the concert (‘They were all there that night. Every single one of them’) that was the crowning glory of his brief career as a concert pianist.


Pinter, who had been a somewhat solitary, introverted child, clearly blossomed at grammar school: Hackney Downs was his university. Like a college freshman testing his mettle, he loved late-night chat, showed a great flair for acting and sport, and took an active part in intellectual life. He wrote on James Joyce for the school magazine discussing ‘the screen of the subconscious mind in Ulysses’; with the certainty of youth he wrote that ‘This enormous work, which depicts a day in the life of a Dubliner, stands supreme among twentieth-century literature’. He opposed the motion in the Literary and Debating Society that ‘A United States of Europe would be the only means of preventing war’ and later supported the motion that ‘War is inevitable’, which suggests he was hardly indifferent to politics. He also showed his cinéaste tendencies by giving a talk on ‘Realism and Post-Realism in the French cinema’ and supported the motion that ‘Film is more promising as an art form than Theatre’. And he was not shy of passing on his discoveries to others. He would often rush into class on a Monday morning urging everyone else to try The Brothers Karamazov or The Trial which he had just read. As B.J. Law – a close friend at the time – recalls: ‘He had a certain cockiness. He had opinions on all manner of things and wasn’t afraid to voice them. He was given to extraordinary sweeping generalisations about literature and life. But it has to be said that it was Harold who introduced us to many of the great writers, particularly Kafka and, later on, Beckett.’


That sense of certainty stemmed from being the apple of his parents’ eye: the lovingly indulged only son. Jack and Frances were very emotional people and, according to Pinter himself, there were frequent rows. His father would snarl at him for days if he refused to get a haircut and fly into a rage if he were slow to clear the dinner things or clean his shoes. But all this was in the context of overwhelming love and sympathy. Pinter recalls with great affection a moment when his father found him, at the age of fourteen, sitting up very late one night in the kitchen tearfully writing some love poetry. Instead of packing him off to bed, his father simply encouraged him to go on writing. The house was also always open to Pinter’s friends. One hot night several of them slept out in the garden, under the lilac tree, while Ron Percival sang ‘Come Away, Death’ and ‘When that I was and a little tiny boy’ from Twelfth Night.


Writing, in particular, was always treated with great respect. Pinter recalls a later episode that reveals a lot about the cultivation of East End Jewish life, about the sharpness of his emotional memory and about his ability to see his own experience in dramatic terms.


‘It’s really,’ he says, ‘a story about Henry [Woolf] and his parents. They lived in a little flat in Homerton. His mother was a tiny Jewish woman. A real baleboosta. She never stopped cleaning or polishing. Everything was immaculate. Henry’s father regarded himself as a scholar or politician. Never did a day’s work in his life, but sat and read the paper at home or in the Public Library … In those days you used to go to people’s houses and knock at the door. There were no phones. We didn’t have phones. That’s a thing people don’t recognise. People couldn’t afford a phone. There was a phone next door in Thistlewaite Road but they were well off. But I knocked at the door one evening to see Henry. His father answered the door and I said, “Is Henry in?” He said, “No, but he might come back. Do you want to come in and wait?” I thought I’d wait a few minutes. I said, “You don’t have a piece of paper or a pen?” A piece of paper, that was it. Mr Woolf said, “What for?” I said, “I just feel like writing something.” He said, “You’re thinking of writing something?” I said, “Yes.” He said, “Don’t worry – get him a piece of paper.” He gave me the paper and I sat there for about ten or fifteen minutes writing a poem. Occasionally I’d be aware of them and look up. They were really pleased because they came from a Continental tradition in which writing was really good. Henry’s father knew the Bible. He was a great Talmudic scholar too. The point of the story is that they delighted in the fact that their son’s friend was actually engaged in the act of writing.’ As Peter Hall always says, to understand a playwright’s work you have to listen to the way he talks: the pauses, the repetitions, the speech-rhythms in this story are exactly those you find in Pinter’s plays.


Apart from a shared delight in writing, art, movies, music and philosophy, the Hackney gang was also defined by its male exclusivity. Only one woman, Jennifer Mortimer, ever gained honorary admittance to the group. She became, in fact, the prototype of Virginia in The Dwarfs and was the subject of fierce sexual rivalry between Pinter and Ron Percival. According to Henry Woolf, members of the gang would have girlfriends and fall in love, but loyalty to the group supposedly superseded individual sexual relationships. One evening Pinter was bowling along the Lower Clapton Road with Woolf and Wernick, and there was talk about whether or not to go and have a cup of tea. Pinter, who’d already made a secret date for that night, confessed he had another appointment. ‘The other two,’ he says, ‘just stared at me in mock-outrage as if to say, “Good luck, mate, if that’s the way you understand life.”It was all a game, really.’ In fact, Pinter’s sexual adventurousness was the subject of much envious ribaldry. Morris Wernick used to say that all he had to do if he wanted to go to a fancy-dress ball was to hang his youga (Yiddish for penis) over his shoulder and go as a petrol pump. But even if it was all a game, it still concealed a strong communal ethic. Any violation of the unwritten code, as Pinter was one day to discover, was greeted with severe punishment, which helps to explain the psychological origins of his obsession with betrayal.


The group’s defensive loyalty stemmed from intellectual kinship and shared poverty. It was also sharpened by the resurgence of Fascism in the post-war East End world; and it was very much a revival rather than a new phenomenon. Anyone growing up in the East End and aware of its history knew of the recurrent social and racial tensions. In the 1920s the Hackney Gazette fulminated against the presence in the borough of ‘30,000 Jewish and other aliens’ turning the area into ‘a sort of Middle East’ and depriving locals of jobs and decent housing. Racial prejudice also found an outlet in support for Oswald Mosley’s British Union of Fascists whose campaign against Anglo-Jewry became formal party policy in 1934. One should also remember that, although East Enders took to the streets in 1936 to prevent Mosley’s blackshirts marching provocatively through a Jewish area, a year later in London County Council elections the Fascists polled 23 per cent of the votes in Bethnal Green, 19 per cent in Limehouse and 14 per cent in Shoreditch. The war, of course, had been fought to end all that, but anti-Semitism was as rife in the post-war East End as it had been before. Morris Beckman in his book The 43 Group – which takes its title from an organisation founded in March 1946 by forty-three ex-servicemen to fight against the new Mosleyites – paints a graphic picture of the ugliness of that period. Beckman points out that when the 43 Group was formed there were fourteen identifiable Fascist organisations operating on the streets and inside schools and halls in London. Fascist bookshops and debating societies were springing up everywhere. Newspapers and magazines with titles such as Gothic Ripples, Britain Awake and Britain Defiant were on sale outside tube stations. ‘If’, Beckman writes, ‘one of the Sons of St George stood on a chair in Hackney and shouted, “The Nazis were right to have gassed the Jews,” it would be terribly provocative and inexcusably vile but he had the right to say it. If a Jew in hearing protested, he could be arrested for causing a breach of the peace. Such was the law which the Home Secretary, Chuter Ede, never changed.’


Almost inevitably, Pinter and his friends were involved in confrontations with itinerant Fascist gangs. ‘One typical incident,’ recalls Goldstein, ‘occurred in Ridley Road. We had decided to attend a meeting of the British National Party (or whatever they were called at the time) and Jimmy Law was carrying a book under his arm (probably a volume of Baudelaire) when he was suddenly pointed at and accused of being a Commie. At which point Jimmy held his book aloft and called out, “Why – because I can read?” Of course, we thought this was very funny. We left the scene followed by a gang of thugs. Harold and I trailed the others – Henry, Moishe and Jimmy – by several yards. Those in front had already turned the corner into Dalston Lane when an enormous onion hit the wall of the bank Harold and I were just passing. I grabbed Harold by the arm to lead him quickly to catch up with the others but he shook me off and turned to face the thugs. I ran to the others and called out that Harold was in trouble. By the time we got back to him he was surrounded by about six of them. Some of them had bike chains, others carried broken milk bottles. Jimmy broke into the ring and took up a position next to Harold. It was a very brave thing to do. At that moment a trolleybus slowed down to take the corner and all of us managed to scramble on to it. But it was a nasty situation.’


Violence, even if it didn’t always erupt, was sucked into the atmosphere; and Pinter acquired a gift for skilled verbal evasion useful to an embryonic playwright. He has often recalled how gangs would hang around under the local railway arches and there’d be exchanges such as: ‘Are you all right?’ ‘Yes, I’m all right’ ‘Well, that’s all right then, isn’t it.’ It’s what Charles Marowitz once dubbed ‘Nascent Pinterian dialogue in original settings of menace’. But although violence and menace were part of the social landscape of Pinter’s late teens, it is facile to argue that he simply transferred that atmosphere, undiluted, into his early plays. It was clearly a factor, but by no means the only one, in his portrait of the precariousness of existence and of the abyss of terror lurking beneath all social relationships. That stemmed from many things including evacuation, the Blitz, childhood solitude and his wide reading, which included Dostoevsky and Kafka. In fact his contemporaries, while acknowledging the post-war Fascist threat, play down its long-term significance. Michael Goldstein claims, ‘There was an undercurrent of anti-Semitism but by no stretch could you say it was felt more than skin-deep by any of us … Of course, it was mentioned now and again, but I can’t personally see how it informs Pinter’s work to any great extent. There is enough fear and menace in just being alive.’ Henry Woolf agrees: ‘The sense of violence was visible but, at the same time, it was unimportant. It was an annoyance and a threat and it was profoundly unjust that, after a war that had been fought against just this sort of thing, there were these guys beating up Jews. But it was principally a nuisance of an occasionally dangerous kind.’


Pinter was adept at taking care of himself either through verbal evasion or physical retaliation, but he stopped short of direct political involvement. One night a fellow ping-pong player at Hackney Boys’ Club called Julie Konapinski (‘I can see him now,’ Pinter remarks, ‘sallow, good-looking fellow’) suggested joining the 43 Group, but Pinter politely demurred. The real significance to Pinter of the post-war anti-Semitic threat was not so much that it inculcated a sense of menace as that it developed his instinctual hatred of any form of injustice. Judging by his father’s challenge to the authorities on his son’s supposed failure of the School Matric, it was an hereditary quality, but it was already keenly developed in the young Pinter. When, at the age of fifteen, he was corporally punished by a grammar-school science master called Mr Gee, he marched out of the classroom demanding to see the headmaster to complain that he had been unfairly treated. And what rankles, even today, about the Fascist menace in 1940s Hackney is not so much the physical threat as the manifest political injustice. ‘It was all so odd and ironic,’ says Pinter, ‘because it was happening under a Labour Government which believed in freedom of speech … I mean we’d just fought for six bloody years to defeat, at the cost of millions of people, the Nazis and yet the Government allowed these groups of Fascists to congregate in the East End of London and beat people up … elderly Jewish people and so on. Extraordinary contradictions existed in that society.’ It was the start for Pinter of a lifelong cynicism about politicians and the hypocrisy of Government.


The paradox is that – for all the undercurrents of violence and emotional fluctuations of youth – the immediate post-war years represent something of a golden age in Pinter’s private development. He made lasting friends, learned to question existing credos, read widely and, through acting, writing, cricket, soccer and sprinting, explored both the introvert and extrovert sides of his nature. Pinter says that he was often morose, but everyone who knew him then testifies to his vitality, good looks and intellectual energy; and even today he keeps a photo of the Hackney gang, radiant with the promise of youth, propped up against his study wall. Like any child who had lived through the war, he had a keen sense of death. Yet he seems to have undergone a voyage of personal discovery in those austere post-war years; it is hard not to see that yearning for a secure past which permeates everything he writes, stemming from his memory of the iron-clad solidarity of his Hackney friendships. Though Pinter obviously changes and develops as an artist, these early years form the matrix of his creative imagination.




   





You would have thought, given his passion for the life of the mind and his love of sport, he would have gone straight from Hackney Downs Grammar School to university. But, rather like Peter Cook’s park-bench philosopher who might have been a High Court judge, he didn’t have the Latin. In fact he thought of Oxford or Cambridge when he left school in 1948 and took a week’s cramming course in Latin but realised he was too impatient to master it. In terms of his development as a dramatist, it may have been just as well since – with obvious exceptions such as David Hare, Howard Brenton or John McGrath – an Oxbridge degree course often curbs and restricts a singular theatrical vision: it encourages the critical rather than the creative faculty. And B. J. Law, who later took naturally to schoolteaching, doubts that Pinter would have responded well to the disciplines of academic life. ‘Apart from Joe Brearley,’ he says, ‘he wasn’t that interested in what schoolmasters had to say. I remember we were given a personal essay to write at school and Harold came up with “The Value of a University Education”: a sort of crazy impression of Oxford life which was all dreaming spires, sunlit quads and girls with milk-white thighs … I always remember those milk-white thighs.’ Actually, it sounds quite an accurate picture of Oxford life.


Instead of pursuing that vision, Pinter – encouraged by Joe Brearley and with an admired schoolboy Macbeth and Romeo behind him – decided to study acting at the Royal Academy of Dramatic Art in Gower Street. In those far-off days, young people of proven talent but modest means could still get a local-authority grant to learn the craft of acting. On the recommendation of R. D. Smith, a BBC Radio Drama producer who was acting as an assessor for the London County Council, Pinter got a fee-paying grant to go to drama school. However, the year at RADA, starting in the autumn of 1948, turned out to be one of the unhappiest and seemingly most unproductive periods of his life. At that time RADA, under the benign supervision of Kenneth Barnes, still had the reputation of a glamorous finishing school; it was to be almost a decade before the eruption of a new working-class generation, led by Albert Finney, Peter O’Toole and Tom Courtenay, changed the character both of the institution and of British acting. Pinter, a chipper Hackney intellectual with a fertile mind and an iconoclastic temperament, was simply turned off by the class-consciousness, insular luvviedom and tramline disciplines of post-war RADA. His heart was still in the East End, as he makes clear in The Queen of all the Fairies:




When I went to Acting School I lost no contact with my friends. I couldn’t bear the place anyway. Full of poofs and ponces, upstairs and downstairs, suspendered beauties, darlings and darlinged, ‘shop’ and flourish. The instructors were mostly crap too. The old hag that first produced us was like a witch, demonstrating actions, leaping, grimacing, her crabby face and straggled hair, causing all to be stricken, like medieval peasants at an evil magic fire dance. I hated her and she reported me as insolent, ill-mannered and turbulent. After a while I took days off till I was hardly there at all and eventually faked a nervous breakdown and attended no more. Then as Moishe [Morris Wernick] called it, my poncing days began; from café to library to pisshole [a marble palace behind Hackney Empire] and back.





For all his protestations about RADA’s inbred theatricality, Pinter did in fact encounter a few like-minded spirits there: in particular James Grout, Rachel Roberts and Frances Hyland, with whom he helped to organise a short tour of London churches playing the choruses from T. S. Eliot’s The Rock. But mostly he played hookey and led an extraordinary double-life. Every morning he’d leave home supposedly setting off for Gower Street. Instead he went to Hackney Library just up the road. Or he’d roam about the streets waiting for Henry Woolf and Morris Wernick, then still in the Upper Sixth, to come out of school. Or in the summer he would go off to watch cricket at Lord’s. ‘My parents never knew,’ he says, ‘because I’d come back in the evening and say, “My Horatio was pretty good,” or whatever.’ But what strikes one now is not so much the social insecurity as the self-assurance – or, at least, the strong inner conviction – needed to lead a life of such constant deception. And Pinter’s intimate knowledge of London geography and sympathy with outcasts and dossers, which fed into his later plays, obviously owed something to his vagabond roamings during his ‘year out’. Equally striking is the palpable reluctance to cut the umbilical cord tying him to Hackney with its deep-rooted friendships and life-giving Public Library. Hackney was not just home. It was a sanctuary, a retreat, an East End Eden from which Pinter was reluctant to be expelled. It was not, however, fear which tied Pinter to his birthplace so much as companionship and an inherent suspicion of any form of structured authority: academic, religious and, as it turned out, military. For in October 1948 – in common with every young male at the age of eighteen – Pinter received his call-up papers for National Service. And without a moment’s hesitation he registered as a conscientious objector. It was the most momentous decision of Pinter’s young life; one motivated by instinctive political conviction and presaging a lifelong belief in the right of the individual conscience to resist the demands of the State.


In the context of the time it was also a particularly courageous act. In the summer of 1948 the Cold War had reached a point of crisis. On 23 June the Soviets closed road and rail access to Berlin in an attempt to push the Western allies – the US, the UK and France – out of their three city zones. The Berlin blockade, which lasted until the spring of 1949, was countered by an airlift of food and fuel to save the Western sectors from starvation and surrender. It looked for a time as if the Third World War was about to erupt three years after the Second had ended. Nuclear retaliation against the Soviets was also regarded as more than an empty threat. In July 1948 the first American B29s arrived in East Anglia, the start of an American nuclear presence on British soil that was to last for over four decades. The US Ambassador to Britain, Lew Douglas, sent a cable to Washington reporting that Winston Churchill – then the Tory Opposition leader – ‘believes that now is the time, promptly, to tell the Soviets that if they do not retire from Berlin and abandon Eastern Germany, withdrawing to the Polish frontier, we will raze their cities’. Even Aneurin Bevan, the political conscience of the Labour Party, urged that the Berlin airlift be backed by the dispatch of Allied tanks through the eastern zone of Germany to relieve the Socialist administration of west Berlin.


That was the kind of fevered atmosphere in which Pinter found himself appearing before two military tribunals and at two civil trials. It was a situation that, as he retells it now, combined high seriousness and low farce. But conscientious objection was a landmark in Pinter’s life for several reasons. It led to his first serious rupture with his parents. It gave him his first decisive experience of the conflict between individual determination and social conformity. It also bred a lifelong suspicion of the Kafkaesque workings of bureaucracy. Put simply, it was his first conscious political act.


His parents were perplexed and appalled by his decision. They expected him to go into the Army. They thought that was what one did. They even, unfairly, blamed Henry Woolf for encouraging him. (‘If that Henry Woolf comes to the door,’ said the normally hospitable Jack Pinter, ‘I’ll kill him.’) They also consulted Joe Brearley. ‘You see, most conscientious objectors,’ says Pinter, ‘had a priest or a rabbi to speak for them. I had none of that. I refused to fall back under the shelter of a religious umbrella. The only person they could call on was Joe. I never forget he came round one afternoon and my father said, “Can you talk some sense into this boy? He’s likely to go to prison. He’s crazy.” I remember Joe Brearley saying, “No. If he wants to go to prison, it’s entirely up to him. I’m not saying one thing or the other. I understand what he’s doing even if I don’t necessarily think it’s a good thing.” It was remarkable that speech. I think it made a great impression on them. What he was saying was that it was entirely my responsibility.’


Pinter’s first action was to send back his call-up papers. He was then summoned before a military tribunal in 1949 to explain the reasons for his decision. Which were what exactly? ‘I said something to the effect that the recent war had killed millions of people. I made a big point of the fact that there wasn’t enough food in the world and that to cultivate another war meant that millions more people were going to starve. I was also questioning – since we’d just had this damn war – what the point was of preparing for another one. Who were we going to fight and why? I was quite resolute in all that. This was all at the first tribunal. But I was deeply disturbed by the statement I was sent afterwards. One of the judges had written that, in the event of war, I wouldn’t defend my sister. I was on record as having said something which I never said and which I didn’t believe. Because my view hasn’t changed over the years: if I was in a position where I saw my putative sister being assaulted, I would do my best to defend her. It was a terrible distortion of the truth and an early example of the corruption of a certain kind of bureaucracy.’


After the first tribunal, there was an appeal in which Pinter was allowed to take a witness to testify to his integrity; a chance for a teacher, priest or figure in authority to explain the moral basis for his decision. With bare-faced chutzpah, Pinter took along his Hackney friend Morris Wernick who, like himself, was only eighteen. ‘I remember it,’ says Pinter, ‘as if it were yesterday. I even remember where the tribunal was in Cumberland Place. Moishe got up and said to all these Colonels and Major-Generals, “Look, I know Harold a great deal better than you do. He means what he says. He’s not a fake. He’s not trying to get out of the Army. I’m conscripted and I’m going in in about a month’s time. I’ve no objection to going in, but he has. I’m serious about going in and he’s equally serious about not going in.” And as he sat down I leaned over and said, “You’ve done me there, Wernick.” And, of course, he had. They just said, “Appeal dismissed.” When we got out into Cumberland Place that afternoon – and it was a lovely summer afternoon – I said, “Well, here we go, Wernick. You go into the Army and I go to prison.”’ In that expectation, the two of them took off for a week’s hitch-hiking holiday around Cornwall in the summer of 1949, rejoicing in the fact that not a soul in the world knew where they were. They toured the area around St Ives and Mevagissey where Wordsworthian shades of the prison-house had first begun to close upon the growing boy.


Once back in London Pinter received his call-up papers again and was asked to attend a medical. At which point – and the spectre of Kafka’s Josef K more than once came into his mind – he was asked by the Medical Officer, ‘Do you submit to a medical examination to come into the Army?’ The answer – predictably – was no. Pinter was then placed under arrest, taken to a police court and kept in custody. Even here the gravity of the situation was offset by farce. ‘I found myself,’ recalls Pinter, ‘with some chap in a cell. I said to him, “What are you in here for?” He said, “Oh, I just hit my old woman with a hammer. What about you?” I couldn’t just say I was a conscientious objector so I found myself inventing some total cock-and-bull story.’ After that, Pinter came up before a civil magistrate who asked whether he would accept the court’s judgment or whether he wished his case to go to a jury. He opted for the former and was fined £50, a large sum then which his father, by now reconciled to his son’s obduracy, promptly paid. A few months later the whole process was repeated with Pinter coming up a second time before the same magistrate and this time being fined £75, which his father again paid. The whole process might have been endlessly repeated had not the Board of Conscientious Objectors recently won a court agreement putting a stop to the Kafkaesque cycle in which you were tried, sent to prison, released, asked to attend a medical and sent to prison again. Pinter was lucky both in appearing before an unusually lenient magistrate and in the fact that it had now been decided to call it quits after two trials.


As Pinter himself says, becoming a conscientious objector was quite a lonely thing to do. The pressure to conform was enormous. And even though he had the total support of his old Hackney friends, they mostly succumbed to the organised pointlessness of National Service with Wernick going into the Royal Artillery and Woolf into the RAF. Pinter remained defiantly his own man following the dictates of conscience and refusing to hide under the convenient shelter of pacifist or religious principles. The whole episode also makes nonsense of the theory that Pinter belatedly woke up to political realities or suddenly acquired a questioning conscience in the 1980s. He was always an instinctive outsider; looking back, he sees conscientious objection as the first major political decision of his life. ‘I was sort of smelling a rat,’ he says, ‘about the way these structures were conducted – these political structures. I wouldn’t put it much higher than that. I really smelled a rat. A big one. And I felt I’m not having any of that. You know, we used to call an Army uniform a “shit-suit”. I remember saying at the time, “I’m not going to put on a shit-suit for anybody after this war.” There was a disease which I felt I wasn’t going to succumb to.’


That obstinate nonconformity was to be stamped on Pinter’s soul for life. In a sense, it was the culmination of all his experiences as a boy and as a teenager: the solitariness of his back-garden fantasies, the loneliness of evacuation, the early and decisive rejection of the Jewish religion, the creation of his own private literary pantheon, the sense of injustice at the postwar survival of Fascism, even the class-inspired loathing of the RADA ethos. Everything marked Pinter out, from his earliest years, as an independent spirit. He had found happiness with his soul-mates in Hackney but, with the diaspora of the old gang as they headed towards National Service or university, he faced a difficult problem. He knew he had a talent for acting and writing poetry; but, having dropped out of drama school, narrowly escaped prison and witnessed the break-up of his private Eden, what on earth was he going to do with his young life?



















Two


Romantic Ireland





While his old mates spread their wings, Pinter himself stayed on at home in Hackney for a couple more years – from 1949 to 1951 – before landing an acting job with Anew McMaster’s touring company in Ireland. But there was no sense of domestic confinement. Self-consciously seeing himself as a bit of a Hackney Hamlet – he even favoured black apparel – Pinter wrote in The Queen of all the Fairies ‘I, as a conchie, did not go to prison but counted myself a king of infinite space, while as an actor, I trod the boards’. It was a period in which he read and wrote copiously, saw friends, wrote endless letters to rep directors and BBC producers, went back to drama school, had a heartbreaking love affair. On the surface it seems a fitful, restless, impoverished time; one in which Pinter occupied a milieu not unlike that of Spooner in No Man’s Land made up of small magazines, even smaller cheques and pub pipe dreams. But it was as if he was serving an unconscious apprenticeship to the craft of playwriting: partly by honing his gift for observation, partly by getting work as an actor, partly by testing his literary gifts in poetry, prose-poems and eventually an autobiographical novel. It looks like an in-between period. In fact, Pinter – like all young writers – was absorbing a welter of influences while finding his own distinctive voice.


G. K. Chesterton once wrote, ‘There is at the back of every artist’s mind something like a pattern or type of architecture. It is a thing like the landscape of his dreams; the sort of world he would wish to make or in which he would wish to wander; the strange flora and fauna of his own secret planet.’ That makes it sound romantic–idealistic, but Pinter’s own secret planet turned out to be a cratered paradise destroyed by the serpent of sexuality and the desire for domination. What is staggering is that that dream landscape makes such a sharply defined appearance in his earliest surviving piece – a prose-poem called Kullus written at home in 1949 – and continues, in some shape or form, in much of his succeeding work. Kullus immediately ushers us into a Pinter world that now seems eerily familiar: a room, a space, a territorial battle, a triangular encounter between two men and a woman, a reversal of power. Where on earth does this image come from? The easy answer is that Pinter’s acute sense of territory stems from the threat posed by the Fascist thugs in post-war Hackney. I suspect it has much more to do with the fact that Pinter and his friends all had rooms in their parents’ houses which were simultaneously private sanctuaries, debating chambers and arenas of conflict; in particular, places where the claims of friendship came into head-on collision with external emotional ties. You don’t live at home till your early twenties without developing an awareness of private space or a fear of unwanted invasion. One story Michael Goldstein told me illustrates just how territorially conscious they all were at that time. Goldstein was working at home one evening when Pinter, who had recently fallen in love, burst into his room and began to read a speech from Troilus and Cressida in which the hero moans on about his emotional inadequacy. Goldstein, who had himself just embarked on a love affair, felt he was being lectured about his own shortcomings, and was hurt and angry enough to ask Pinter to leave. A tiny incident; and the breach was quickly healed. But it reminds us of the way the occupant regards a room as a private bolt-hole, of how the new entrant often seeks to impose his or her will upon the space, and of how friendship is sometimes jeopardised by sexuality. All were to become classic Pinter themes.


These ideas hover around Kullus: a remarkably subtle, suggestive poetic dialogue which deals not just with territorial displacement but with control of a room and its owner expressed through images of cold and heat. It is written in three perfectly balanced sections. In the first, the narrator – secure in the dignity of solitude – admits a friend, Kullus, into his room. He invites him over to the fire. Instantly not just the room’s chill, but by implication his whole life, is subjected to harsh criticism by Kullus: ‘This can on no account be named a fire. It is merely another aspect of light and shade in this room. It is not committed to its ordained activity. It does not move from itself, for want of an attention and discernment necessary to its growth. You live an avoidance of both elements.’ Having swiftly demolished the room’s occupant, Kullus then seeks his permission to introduce a shawled girl with whom he proceeds to climb into his bed. The host is left as a passive and impotent voyeur: ‘I placed a coat over the lamp, and watched the ceiling hustle to the floor. Then the room moved to the flame in the grate. I shifted my stool and sat by the flame in the grate.’


By the second section, Kullus has taken over the room completely and exercises complete domination.




The window was closed, if it was warm, and open, if it was cold. The curtains were open, if it was night, and closed, if it was day. Why closed? Why open?





 I have my night,


said Kullus.


I have my day.




   





Kullus controls not just the room and its owner but seeks to impose himself on the natural world: to determine day and night, heat and cold. At which point the girl-visitor starts to seize the initiative, presumptuously inviting the host to move into his own room and enlisting his help in closing the curtains in defiance of Kullus’s orders. By the third section, Kullus ‘has changed’, the shawled host crouches far from the fire, the girl is in complete command of the room and the men in it, closing and opening the curtains at will. Everything has come full circle except that the power situation has been totally altered. Stripped of his identity and his cherished solitude, the host now surveys the girl close to the grate. ‘The ceiling hustled to the floor. You have not shifted the coat from the lamp, I said.’


You could place several interpretations on this. The action could, just possibly, be taking place in three different rooms: the narrator’s, Kullus’s, the girl’s. It could also all be a dream in which a man fantasises about a nightmare occupation. But it makes most sense if read as a mini-drama about territorial displacement and psychological defeat. The amazing thing is that Pinter, at eighteen, thinks in such concrete dramatic and visual terms and maps out his own particular terrain. It’s all there: the idea that we construct our own form of Edenic solitude, that we welcome over the threshold the agents of our own destruction and that women not only radically alter the balance of power between men but end up calling the shots. Formally, the piece is also astonishingly mature. I’m reminded of one of those circular Hitchcock camera shots – familiar from Rope – which take one on a 360-degree tour of a room by the end of which the furniture may look the same, but the relationships have acquired a totally new significance. Yet while being technically assured, the piece never seems far from Pinter’s own world, particularly in Kullus’s devastating critique of his host’s failure, like his fire, to grow. That kind of thing was par for the course in Hackney. Pinter once told me that Henry Woolf, who had been invalided out of the forces, was walking past Hackney Hospital one day with Ron Percival when the latter turned to him and said, ‘Now look here, Woolf, you haven’t made any intellectual progress since you left the RAF,’ to which the helpless Henry said, ‘Haven’t I?’ Such abrasive directness underscores Kullus. And while Pinter was to develop both its structure and themes in his 1967 TV play The Basement, what is fascinating is that his first surviving work should reveal so much about his obsessive preoccupations.


If Kullus proves how Pinter’s vision of reality was strongly defined from the start, much of the poetry he was writing at the time shows he was strongly under the influence of Dylan Thomas. When Ten Early Poems – work rediscovered by chance – was published by Greville Press Pamphlets in 1992, David Vilmure rightly pointed out that these early poems were not Pinter’s plays in seed but ‘fruit from a different vine altogether’. They are, in fact, mostly strenuous, word-drunk, alliterative stuff suggesting a writer passionately in love with language but not yet fully in control of it. Just occasionally, however, a line will leap out that arrests one by its resonant simplicity. In ‘At the Palace of the Emperor at Dawn’, for instance, a cluster of dense and often impenetrable images (‘At Martinmas November stoat/ In nightmare claws a lover’s thighs./ Eyes gnaw the hedge’s coat) is followed by a last line (‘And now we hear the distress of silence’) that is both prophetic and eloquent. But mostly these early poems have a knotty verbal virtuosity as if designed to impress the reader rather than to include her or him in the experience.


A clear exception to this are the two poems with which Pinter first got into print in the August 1950 issue of Poetry London, the leading poetry magazine of the period founded in 1939 by Dylan Thomas, Anthony Dickins, Keirdric Rhys and, its first editor, the Ceylonese writer Tambimuttu. The poems were published under the name of Harold Pinta largely because one of his aunts was convinced – against all the evidence – that the family came from distinguished Portuguese ancestors, the da Pintas. Pinter’s delight at recognition was mitigated only by the fact that, because of a printer’s error, stanzas from the two published poems were interchanged: agony for any writer, but living hell for one of Pinter’s innate fastidiousness. But the two poems show a great advance on the work of the previous year. ‘New Year in the Midlands’ – inspired by a brief Christmas engagement at Chesterfield rep in pantomime – is a vivid, racy evocation of a crushed camp pub at the height of festivities and filled with the phosphorescent lust of an Edward Burra painting. The alliterative exuberance is still there, but it is now controlled and used to create a series of memorable vignettes:




The black little crab women with the


long Eyes, lisp and claw in a can of chockfull stuff.





And in this gaudy, bawd-filled Midlands pub one even wonders if there is a glimpse of Pinter himself in ‘the clamping/ Red shirted boy, ragefull, thudding his cage.’ What is certain is that Pinter’s literary début pleased his parents, who decided it should be made known to their most affluent relation.


‘There was only one member of my family,’ recalls Pinter, ‘who appeared to be at all well-off, my great-uncle Uncle Coleman who was “in business”. He always wore felt carpet slippers and skull-cap at home, and was a very courteous man. My father proposed that I show Uncle Coleman my poem in Poetry London when we next went to tea. I agreed, with some misgivings. My poem was called “New Year in the Midlands” and was to do with a young actor’s vagabond life in rep. It was heavily influenced by Dylan Thomas. It contained the following lines:




This is the shine, the powder and blood and here am I,


Straddled, exile always in one Whitbread Ale town,


Or such.





My father and I sat in the room in silence while Uncle Coleman read this poem. When he reached those lines he stopped, looked over the magazine at us and said, “Whitbread shares are doing very well at the moment. Take my tip.”’


Also published in the same edition of Poetry London was ‘Chandeliers and Shadows’ that comes prefaced with a tag from The Duchess of Malfi (‘I’le goe hunt the badger by owle-light:’ tis a deed of darknesse’) and shows a preoccupation with Jacobean decadence, a gift for pictorial compression and a delight in archaisms (words like ‘deliverate’ and ‘stomacher’), which suggests Pinter has swallowed the plays of John Webster and the dictionary of Noah Webster. Still, the poem has an undeniable haunting, crepuscular power:




Enwrapped in this crust, this crumpled mosaic,


Camphor and rosefall stifle the years,


Yet I, lunatic from lunatic spheres,


Shall run crazy with lepers, And bring God down the chimney,


A tardy locust,


To plunder and verminate man’s pastures, entirely.





These two published poems indicate a writer with, in the first example, a mercilessly observant eye and, in the second, a baroque imagination and in both cases a capacity for verbal mimicry; what they don’t reveal, unlike the remarkable, as-yet-unseen Kullus, is someone who also has a distinctive voice of his own.


While still exploring his literary voice, Pinter was also trying to exploit his acting voice by writing endless letters – at the helpful suggestion of R. D. Smith – to all the top names in BBC Radio’s features and drama departments: Donald McWhinnie, Douglas Cleverdon, Terence Tiller, John Arlott, Frank Hauser. These men were not only legends in sound-radio, but often in their own lunchtimes as well; yet none had anything to offer either in the way of acting or poetry-reading work. Some were obviously secretarially handicapped. Arlott’s reply is addressed ‘Dear Miss Pinter’ and Hauser’s, ‘Dear Mr Puiter’. When Pinter did eventually penetrate Broadcasting House it was in a series of productions for Smith himself late in 1950: in Focus on Football Pools and Focus on Libraries, both earning him three guineas with a £1 11s. 6d. repeat fee, and the minor role of Abergavenny in Henry VIII, for which the fee shot up to nine guineas with £4 14s. 6d. for the repeat. Which suggests that, however much life changes, BBC fees remain much the same. Like the well-brought-up boy he was, Pinter wrote a polite letter to Smith. (‘I must thank you for the part in Henry VIII and hope you found my performance satisfactory. I listened to the recording and, to me, my voice sounded unrecognisable.’) On the strength of his track-record, he also got an audition for the features department. The audition report shows the BBC was still having trouble with his name, now given as Herbert Pinta, but is mildly favourable, ending up with the cryptic observation ‘RADA. Cockney. Good quiet approach.’ More casual work followed early in 1951 including the rare chance to narrate a radio feature Mr Punch Passes By, produced by Denis Mitchell – later a distinguished TV documentary producer – in Manchester.


By this time, Pinter was in a strange situation: seriously broke, living at home and making only minor headway as a poet and bit-part radio actor. Convinced he had some talent as an actor, he decided the best thing to do was to go back to drama school, this time at the Central School of Speech and Drama, where he spent two terms from January to July 1951. If the atmosphere was infinitely more congenial than at RADA, it was partly because he met some inspirational teachers, in particular Cicely Berry, who later became the RSC’s Head of Voice and something of an international guru, and Stephen Joseph, who went on to found pioneering Theatres in the Round in Stoke-on-Trent and Scarborough. At Central, Pinter also met fellow-student Barry Foster, who shared his appetite for life, love and poetry.


Foster recalls Central at that time as being full of callow youths and eighteen-year-old daughters of Home Counties admirals. In that context, Pinter inevitably shone out like a beacon. ‘Harold,’ says Foster, ‘seemed far ahead of everyone else. He was writing a lot of poetry then. It was quite difficult stuff to grapple with until you got on his wavelength. Very knotted and intense imagery. He had a talent you could smell a mile off. He was also dashingly and saturninely handsome and blessed with a deep, dark, resonant voice quite unusual at the age of twenty. He was wonderful company and we’d drink the night through till the money ran out and then go to the Black and White Milk Bar in Fleet Street from which came a famous sketch. I’ve got a letter about that where he recalls sitting opposite a hair-twirler, bits of whose scalp and hair kept falling into Harold’s soup. As a student, Harold was quite diligent. We’d do potted versions of plays at the end of term. I remember doing scenes from A Midsummer Night’s Dream with Harold playing Bottom and myself Lysander. He plunged into that wholeheartedly, but that was very much to do with the inspirational direction of Stephen who was a highly intelligent, gifted man.’ Indeed, Joseph became one of those influential father-figures who crop up throughout Pinter’s early life. When the students were asked by Joseph to write an essay on dramatic history, Pinter suggested that he would like to do something on the crucial ulcer at the centre of the Jacobean world. Pinter gave it everything he’d got. ‘You write then, do you?’ said Joseph. ‘Yes,’ said Pinter. ‘Well, hope you go on with that,’ said Joseph, in a tone of warm encouragement that Pinter still remembers. It was also something that paid off in 1959 when Joseph got Pinter to direct the second professional production of The Birthday Party in Scarborough featuring another of his protégés, Alan Ayckbourn.


Pinter’s character at this time was marked by a duality that has never quite gone away. He was, as Foster testifies, good company, a great drinker, a generous mate. Yet if you study his writing of this period it is full of almost apocalyptic angst. It was as if Pinter, even at twenty, was keenly attuned to life’s suffering and harshness but was determined to rise above it with a mutinous stoicism. One of the most remarkable poems he wrote in 1951, ‘I shall tear off my Terrible Cap’, expresses something of this in that it is filled with a wild, antic despair and hints of possession by demons and devils. It begins:




I in my strait-jacket swung in the sun,


In a hostile pause in a no man’s time.


The spring his green anchor had flung.





The immediate impression is of madness, confinement, alienation; there’s a lot of future Pinter locked into the idea of ‘a hostile pause in a no man’s time’. But the poem also sets up an instant contrast between its subject’s constrained vitality and the indifferent world of nature. And it goes on to explore the idea of a wildly gabbling, almost insane hero subjected to social pressure, but finally striking a note of cock-a-hoop defiance:




All spirits shall haunt me and all devils drink me;


O despite their dark drugs and the digs that they rib me,


I’ll tear off my terrible cap.





An awareness of life’s horrors and society’s imprisoning tendencies countered by an absolute determination not to surrender to them: that same note, present in the poem, is also constantly sounded in The Queen of all the fairies which dates from 1951. It was not written as a personal credo or philosophical statement; taking its title from a bawdy song Pinter and his chums sang as boys, it is an autobiographical memoir full of Daumier-like sketches of places and people. But it does tell us more than anything about Pinter’s early attitudes. He emerges as an impassioned outsider and obstinate nonconformist who, even if the world is going to hell in a hand-cart, is determined to cling on to his freedom and independence of thought. At this time, many of Pinter’s Hackney contemporaries were sucked into existing society: Wernick was in the Army, Percival was something in the City, Law was studying to be a teacher. Pinter remained – and, to a large extent, has stayed to this day – a truculent non-joiner. The twenty-year-old Pinter of The Queen of all the Fairies is not so very different from the mature maverick who in 1993 told an interviewer from Time Out, ‘I can’t be sacked, you see, because I haven’t got a job. Therefore, I’ll continue to say whatever I like.’


It is in writing about others, however, that Pinter most clearly reveals himself in the memoir, and nowhere more so than in his portrait of Ron Percival:




Ron was slim and blond, crowned with a mass of curled fair hair. His face seemed carved, was pale and handsome. He was an explosive, singular person, convinced one could, and should, crack through everything, go through the dreariest and most unpleasant turge and sacrifice the nine-tenths of one’s soul on the cross if the last tenth fulfilled that which it was compelled to. It was the nails that hurt though, said he. I could not agree, although I understood what he meant well enough. But I could not see the point in having showerbaths of shit for one’s health. To a man fully alive each moment attempts asphyxiation. The sun ever makes the skin putty. The rain falls ‘like showers of broken glass’. The awareness that comes in the flow of minutes, hours and days is akin sometimes to the lunatic, of insane possession and revelation, while beneath lies the stone depth of stillness. Suffering exists in far greater dimension than the suffering inflicted by society, which begins as an imposition of a narrow realism: the Stock Exchange, the Fascists, the Ministry of Labour, General Elections; all it seemed to me, if placed in perspective, could be viewed from a Gulliver height. Jesus, I was told, it’s real enough to be coshed by a Union thug or to be shot at but instead of cultivating suffering on this plane till I was in love with it, amorous with self-pity, always remaining within the limits of one world, one plane, I realised that in a life of unutterable dimensions, these phenomena were merely as marbles – which tend to topple the great. If my skull were sliced by a lout or a chimney-pot falling, then that would be so. ‘The readiness is all. Let be.’





That’s not only a vivid piece of prose. It also suggests that Pinter, at twenty, had an astonishingly clear vision both of himself and the world. He did not share Percival’s masochistic belief that you had to endure endless pain for a glimpse of truth. Neither did he believe that one should be oppressed by daily reality or self-indulgently succumb to suffering. One had to acknowledge life’s harshness: ‘to a man fully alive each moment attempts asphyxiation’ is pure Beckett, of whom Pinter had not yet even heard, let alone read. At the same time, one had to transcend life’s calculated cruelties and accidental mishaps with stoicism and grace. It’s an astonishingly mature philosophy: a mix of Buddhism, Hamlet and Marcus Aurelius, but – and this is the point – evolved by Pinter himself through a combination of life experience and reading. And even though it sounds apolitical, it is simply based on the belief that there is a higher truth than that expressed by the inbred power-jockeying of modern politicians (1951 was an Election year). There may be a touch of youthful attitudinising; but when Pinter talks of ‘the stone depth of stillness’ underneath the flow of time or of the ‘unutterable dimensions’ of human existence he is mapping out the dream landscape that forms the permanent background to his work.


In part, this memoir is a record of a lost Hackney Eden and of the diaspora that followed its break-up. One should also add that it’s exuberantly funny – Henry Woolf ‘had the greatest talent of anyone I know for appreciating a really good shit’ – and often sharply self-critical. Pinter recalls the judgement of Ron Percival who ‘accused me of operating on life while he operated in it’. That must have stung, since the phrase recurs in both The Dwarfs and The Homecoming. It implies that Pinter was a somewhat detached observer who imposed himself on existence rather than immersing himself fully in it. There may be some truth in that – isn’t it the natural stance of any writer? – but Pinter was, and clearly is, as susceptible to wounds and hurts as the next man. Just how much so was shown one evening when he and I were talking about Jimmy Law, now a retired schoolmaster whom I had met recently and whom Pinter hadn’t seen in over twenty years. Pinter’s nostalgic affection for Law, his pinpoint reminiscence of a particular moment and his ability to invest the past with dramatic significance were all patently evident.


‘By the summer of ’51,’ says Pinter, ‘I’d had enough of drama school. I’d also met Dilys Hamlett who was a student at the Old Vic School and we’d had this desperate affair. I remember I was with Jimmy Law in his flat in Coleherne Mews in Earls Court. His parents were publicans and had a bob or two. Anyway, to have a flat in the Earls Court in the ’50s was quite something. I went over to see him one day and he suddenly said, “About Dilys.” I said, “Yes?” He said, “Well, you know that Swede or Finn she’s been seeing.” I said, “Yes, I’ve heard of him.” He said, “Well, she’s married him.” I remember I dropped my coffee cup … And we just sat there. It must have been afternoon. We sat there for some time in silence … He finally said, “I’m thinking of walking over to Toynbee Hall.” It was a hell of a long walk … There was a concert he wanted to go to … I said, “I’ll come with you.” We walked in absolute silence for two hours across London. We saw the concert. We heard the concert. We attended the concert. That’s what I remember about Jimmy.’ Life – even down to the dropped coffee cup – seems to take on the contours of a Pinter play.


In fact, the affair with Dilys Hamlett was both a crucial part of Pinter’s early emotional life and, twenty years later, left its decisive imprint on one of his major works. Her own memory of the relationship is clear, precise and affectionate. ‘At the time,’ she says, ‘and this was February 1950, I was sharing a room with a female friend in Walpole Street in Chelsea. My friend went off to Switzerland for a month. Meanwhile I’d been recommended by an actor, Roger Snowdon, to go to evening classes at the Unity Theatre in North London. In the class there was a Jewish girl from Hackney called Shirley who was unhappy at home and whom I invited to stay with me for a bit. After a week she said, “There’s somebody you’ve got to meet.” She then brought over Harold, Jimmy Law and the whole Hackney gang. I was a bit prissy, middle class and ladylike, and I’d simply never met people before with such intensity and extraordinary energy. I remember sitting on the gas meter absolutely mesmerised while they all talked. Eventually the boys all went off and Harold stayed on talking late into the night. He’d missed his last bus so he stayed over. It was all very innocent: he slept in one bed, and Shirley and I in the other. The next morning I caught the bus with him – he was getting the number 22 back to Hackney – and he was still talking nineteen to the dozen about Dylan Thomas and Joyce and Yeats. I’d never met anyone like this before. I always have an image of Harold striding down the street in his navy-blue coat with a rage against the world. But it was also a rage for life, a rage to do something, a rage to achieve something.’


Dilys Hamlett and Pinter started a passionate affair that lasted till October. He took her to see Buñuel’s Un Chien Andalou, Wolfit’s Lear at the Elephant and Castle, Anouilh’s Point of Departure at the Lyric Hammersmith. He also gave her a copy of Rimbaud’s Une Saison en enfer which she still treasures. They even went away for a weekend to the Cotswolds, signing the hotel register as ‘Mr and Mrs Pinter’ – still quite a daring thing to do in the unpermissive 1950s. But the affair, according to Hamlett, was also pretty tempestuous. She recalls that Pinter was furious when she danced with another actor at a Unity Theatre party. She also got a scholarship to the Old Vic School run by Michel St Denis, George Devine and Glen Byam Shaw. Pinter was persuaded to audition with her and didn’t get in. ‘I learned later,’ she says, ‘from Michel St Denis that the reason why was that the school was run very much on group principles and Harold was felt to be too much of an individual. I was also very stubborn and Harold had a strong possessive streak. At one point we were going to set up in a flat together and I just chickened out. I also remember asking him if I could go out with anyone else if I suddenly felt like it and he said very emphatically, “No.” At that moment I felt it was finished. A few weeks later, at a Christmas Party, I met Caspar Wrede who was on the production course at the Old Vic School and within eight weeks we were married. I think, with the cruelty of youth, I gave Harold a great deal of pain – something you realise only later when you get some pain yourself. But he was a wonderfully loving person with a great deal of joy. I didn’t see him after that for fifteen years, when my own marriage broke up, but even now we remain good friends. Whenever we meet it’s always a joyous occasion.’


Pinter was deeply affected by the break-up with Dilys Hamlett and the memory lingered on: the pubs and parties they went to in 1950s London and even precise echoes of the relationship pervade Old Times. But in youth one survives heartbreak and, having taken the course at Central School, Pinter was faced with the business of earning a living. In July 1951 he wrote once again to his helpful BBC mentor R. D. Smith seeking advice and contacts. Smith replied suggesting that Pinter contact Douglas Seale at Birmingham Rep and an agent or two. Nothing came of that. But on 28 August a jubilant Pinter wrote back to say that, having answered an ad in The Stage, he had landed a good job. ‘I’m going’, he wrote, ‘for a six-month tour in Shakespeare to Ireland next month. An Irish actor-manager called Anew McMaster. I’m playing, among others, Horatio, Bassanio and Cassio in Othello. I’ll keep in touch.’ It was to be the start of an engagement that stretched, on and off, over a two-year period and that was to affect radically Pinter’s concept of theatre.


McMaster – by then sixty – was a rare survivor of the nineteenth-century actor-manager tradition. Though claiming in Who’s Who in the Theatre to have been born in County Monaghan in 1895, he was, in fact, born in a suburb of Birkenhead in 1891; and even though he always said his Ulster Presbyterian father was in shipping, the old man was in reality a stevedore. But McMaster’s whole life was steeped in romance. At the age of twenty he ran away from his Merseyside home to join the Fred and Julia Neilson Terry company at London’s New Theatre. He fell under the theatrical spell of Beerbohm Tree, whose performances he eagerly attended at His Majesty’s. Emotionally, he was also captivated by three young members of the Peter Pan company playing at the Duke of York’s in 1913. One was ‘a leggy boy with an alert, amusing face’ who was Master Noël Coward. Another was a curly-haired boy with big brown eyes who was Master Alfred Willmore (who later changed his name to Micheal MacLiammoir). The third was Alfred’s sister Marjorie who acted as her brother’s keeper. Christopher Fitz-Simon, in his biography of MacLiammoir and Hilton Edwards, The Boys, speculates that it is likely McMaster fell in love with both Alfred and Marjorie. Happily, it was the latter whom he actually married and by whom he had a son and a daughter.


McMaster not only became a theatrical mentor to MacLiammoir but a superb classical actor. His Coriolanus at Stratford-upon-Avon in 1933 was said to be the greatest of his generation. But it was in Ireland that he became the undisputed monarch of the Shakespearean repertoire, touring towns large and small with his own company in the great barnstorming tradition of the previous century. According to the actor Christopher Casson, who saw a lot of his later work, he could play two-thirds of a performance indifferently and then suddenly give one a blinding revelation: almost literally so in the case of his Oedipus which, in the climactic stages, ‘was so magnificent that you remember it as being better than Olivier’s’. Mac was also the kind of charismatic figure around whom theatrical legends cluster. One story goes that, during one of his tours of what he used to call the Irish ‘smalls’, he stepped off the train at some obscure country town to enquire, in highly theatrical tones, ‘What country, friends, is this?’ – to which the Shakespeare-saturated local stationmaster replied, ‘This is Illyria, lady.’


By the time Pinter came to work with Mac in 1951, the latter may no longer have been a blazing theatrical comet, but he was a living link with the great tradition and still capable of existing, in Pinter’s eloquent phrase about his Othello, ‘dead in the centre of the role’. For Pinter, whose professional theatrical experience was so far limited to Dick Whittington at Chesterfield Rep the previous winter, life in Mac’s company was both an eye-opener and a theatrical education. After auditioning, somewhat to his surprise, in the grey area of Willesden Junction, Pinter was booked to play a batch of Shakespearean roles at six pounds a week: good money in Ireland in those days when you could get digs for 25 shillings. Six plays were rehearsed in Dublin in a fortnight and then it was off on the road to Skibereen, Tralee, Dundalk, Sligo, Ballina, Ballyshannon, Athlone and Mullingar, with occasional dates at bigger venues such as the Theatre Royal, Waterford, and the Opera House, Cork, where Pinter remembers ‘there was a backstage bar so that between cues you could pop in and have a quick one’.


What did Pinter learn from Mac? Judging from the affectionate and brilliantly precise memoir he wrote in 1966 – four years after Mac’s death – he greatly admired his liberality of spirit, piss-taking humour, total lack of sentimentality and zealous anti-puritanism. It’s the tribute of one natural outsider to another. But Pinter, although by inclination a poet rather than a playwright at this stage of his life, learned a vital theatrical lesson from Mac. He witnessed at first hand power, control, the actor’s ability to seize the moment and impose himself on an audience. Playing Iago to the older man’s Othello, Pinter saw how you could take an unruly collection of playgoers and bend them to your will. In his memoir, Pinter recalls one particular St Patrick’s Night performance in Limerick where Mac gradually won over a drunken and noisy house. In the first half the actors could hardly hear themselves speak. Pinter writes




I came offstage with Mac at the interval and gasped. Don’t worry, Mac said, don’t worry. After the interval he began to move. When we walked on to the stage for the ‘Naked in bed, Iago, and not mean any harm’ scene (his great body hunched, his voice low with grit), they silenced. He tore into the fit. He made the play his and the place his. By the time he had reached ‘It is the very error of the moon; She comes more near the earth than she was wont, And makes men mad’ (the word ‘mad’ suddenly cauterized, ugly, shocking) the audience was quite still. And sober. I congratulated Mac. Not bad, he said, was it? Not bad. Godfrey Tearle never did the fit, you know.





That’s not only great criticism, it’s also a testament to the transfixing theatrical power of language and personality. Pinter, as a dramatist, has never had to confront riotously drunk audiences – more often, in fact, dangerously reverent ones – but the primacy of the single moment and the capacity to instil silence through an isolated word must have sunk deep into his subconscious. Though he was, in many ways, to revolutionise playwriting, Pinter also learned from the past.


The paradox of Mac is that, while being a latter-day transplanted Tree who knew Irish audiences had come to see him, he could also be strangely unselfish. Barry Foster – who joined Mac’s company direct from Central School in 1952 at Pinter’s suggestion – recalls, ‘Unlike Wolfit, Mac wanted us to be good. He wanted the ball fast and low over the net so that he could play his shots. He was also open to suggestion. Harold and I, for instance, persuaded him to put the England scene back into Macbeth. We were staggered that it wasn’t there. Mac would say, “Well no, dear, they’ve come to see me.” So we said, “There’s a nice little rest there, you can put your feet up and it does make a bit more sense of the play if you think about it.” So Mac said, “All right.” Harold and I, who were playing Macduff and Malcolm, took mornings off before ordinary rehearsals and sometimes late afternoons as well and worked on the England scene, directed it ourselves and slotted it in. For all of us it was a wonderfully fermenting and fruitful time.’


Pinter concurs. ‘Ireland’, he writes in Mac, ‘wasn’t golden always but it was golden sometimes and in 1950 [actually 1951–53] it was, all in all, a golden age for me and for others.’ For a start, he was learning his craft from a great actor and graduating from minor roles to ever bigger parts. In Othello he moved from Cassio to Iago (‘Very good, but a bit flashy,’ says Foster). He even got to play Hamlet at a Thursday matinée having mastered the text in a couple of days, although he’d been rehearsing the role in life for several years. Mac played the Gravedigger and kept a wary eye on him from the wings. ‘How was it?’ said Pinter afterwards. ‘Very good,’ said Mac, ‘but next time be a bit nicer to your mother.’ And, having turned his hand to Agatha Christie’s Ten Little Indians and Love from a Stranger – significantly, in view of his later mastery of mystery – Pinter played lead roles in a trio of Wilde plays including The Importance of Being Earnest: ‘Never’, said one local critic, ‘have we heard Wilde’s unreasonable utterances spoken so reasonably as by Max Ettlinger (Algernon Moncrieff) and Harold Pinter (Jack Worthing, JP).’ Commuting back and forth to London in the breaks, Pinter did five seasons with Mac in the years from 1951 to 1953. And if they were golden years, it was not just because he made new friends – including Patrick Magee and Kenneth Haigh – or because of the hectic excitement of the vagabond life, but because of the impact of Ireland on both his love life and literary development.


As the parts improved, so Pinter increasingly found himself cast opposite an actress called Pauline Flanagan, a young Irish beauty from a civically conscious background (both her parents had been Mayor of Sligo), with a magical voice and gentle manner. She was Portia to his Bassanio, Mrs Erlynne to his Lord Windermere, Gwendolen to his Jack Worthing. Photographs of the time show them either together or with a group – on a beach in County Clare, perched on a rock at Blarney Castle or posing beside a car in a snow-filled Kilkenny that looks like a small town in the Russian provinces. Pinter and Flanagan toured, line-studied, acted and read poetry together. ‘He was mad about Yeats,’ she remembers, ‘and I think Yeats was highly influential. Harold introduced me to Yeats’s more difficult late poems, the poems I wasn’t familiar with like the one about the tin-can tied to a dog’s tail. He also read Eliot and read The Waste Land aloud. You can imagine: “When Lil’s husband got demobbed … – Good night, ladies, good night, sweet ladies … ”’


Unsurprisingly, they fell headlong in love. But it seems to have been much more than the kind of passing theatrical fling that inevitably occurs when companies are on the road. (As the old theatrical joke goes: ‘Did Hamlet sleep with Ophelia?’ ‘In my company, always.’) In the break between seasons, Pinter brought Pauline over to London to meet his parents and friends. She remembers Moishe and Jimmy and Mick and how they all played cricket in the park one afternoon. She and Pinter also shared the delights of London life. ‘Harold’, she writes, ‘loved London. He loved living there – the parks, the movies, the caffs … He introduced me to films that had never been seen in Ireland … We saw Buñuel’s Los Olvidados. There was one scene, I recall, with a blind man – not your stereotypical blind man, but a nasty man flailing with a stick …’ That’s a particularly revealing memory since Buñuel’s film, about three boys living on the outskirts of Mexico City, dealt not just with abandoned children but with blind beggars, sadistic underdogs, stick-wielding bullies – all images that recur in Pinter’s later work. In fact, Buñuel, whose early surrealist classics such as Un Chien Andalou and L’Age d’or Pinter had seen as a teenager, is one of the most visible influences on his work. What both men share is an ability to make dreams concrete, a distrust of authority, a gift for recording low life without passing overt moral judgement and a blackly sardonic humour. Buñuel is more obviously an anarchist than Pinter, but both possess a deep-rooted concern with dramatic construction. Truffaut’s comment on the great Spanish film-maker could be applied equally well to Pinter: ‘Buñuel is a cheerful pessimist, not given to despair, but he has a sceptical mind … Buñuel’s scepticism extends to all those whom he finds playing too neat a social game, those who live by accepted opinions.’


Aside from making trips to the Marx Brothers and Buñuel, Pauline also got to know Pinter’s parents: ‘they were very quiet, proud, very welcoming and modest’. She particularly remembers Frances Pinter’s cooking and her concern to see there was always a chicken in the fridge for the hungry young couple. It is clear that Pinter and Pauline were very close. In fact they talked about marriage, but Pinter’s mother, although hospitable, was deeply concerned about the idea of her son marrying an Irish-Catholic girl. Maybe also she was worried, understandably, about their economic prospects. Pinter asked one of his oldest Hackney friends, Michael Goldstein, what he should do and was advised to think very seriously about it. In post-war Hackney marriage between a Jewish boy and a shiksa was still the exception rather than the rule, and in the end Pinter and Pauline went their separate ways. But one of Pinter’s rare qualities is that he always remains on friendly terms with former lovers – indeed in 1976 he directed Flanagan in The Innocents on Broadway. Even to this day, Ireland remains for both of them a golden memory.


Ireland, Yeats, the relationship with Pauline: all had a strong effect on Pinter’s literary sensibility. They certainly changed his poetry. Just as Yeats’s own work moves from the decorative, Pre-Raphaelite style of the early years towards an austere lyricism, so Pinter’s own poetry undergoes a profound change. The poems of the late 1940s are ornate, overwrought, selfconsciously Dylan Thomas-like. The poems written between 1951 and 1953 have not only greater directness and clarity, but also a sense of wounded emotion and an awareness of loss. What you hear at last is the true voice of feeling. Sometimes the poems are simply a response to Irish topography as in ‘The Islands of Aran seen from the Moher Cliffs’ (1951) which captures marvellously the bleakness and grandeur of these rocky isles seen from the stone of Connemara’s head:




The three whales of Aran


Humped in the sun’s teeth,


Make tough bargain with the cuff


And statement of the sea.





But one of the most remarkable discoveries in Ten Early Poems is a verse-dialogue called ‘Episode’ (1951): a deconstruction of a love-triangle that in some ways prefigures the world of Landscape and Betrayal. There is an unnamed and unmistakably jilted speaker; an empowered rival given voice and identity as ‘He’; a silent and shadowy woman who is the object of their struggle. Pinter captures marvellously both the fragility of possession and the obsessive nature of love (‘I tread their shadow, Stranger and woman, Arranging the season In her curious dream’). But the most extraordinary feature of the poem is that it is the temporary winner of the struggle who launches a fierce litany of protest against his vanquished rival:




HE:


That you did barter


And consort with her.


That you did ash


The fire at her departure.


That you did enter


Where I was unechoed.That you did venture


Where I was a stranger.





From early on in his career, Pinter sees sexual relationships in terms of a male battleground in which, in the end, there are no real winners and losers because the desired object remains mysterious, enigmatic, unknowable. It’s a position Pinter would redefine in his later work as he gained a greater understanding of women; yet there is an archetypal pattern in ‘Episode’ that is repeated, with variations, in many of Pinter’s plays.


But the poems from Pinter’s Irish period also show a greater liberation of feeling than anything he had written before. They tend to be rural rather than urban, lyrical rather than imagist, often using Celtic myth as a vehicle for private emotion. A classic example is one called simply ‘Poem’ (1953) which begins:I




I walked one morning with my only wife,


Out of sandhills to the summer fair,


To buy a window and a white shawl,


Over the boulders and the sunlit hill.


But a stranger told us the fair had passed,


And I turned back with my only wife.





and which ends three stanzas later with:




The year turned to an early sunrise.


I walked one morning with my only wife,


Out of sandhills to the summer fair,


To sell a candle and a black shawl.


We parted ways on the sunlit hill,


She silent, I to the farther west.





We seem to be in the world of Yeats and Synge – a world of peasants, shawls and summer fairs – and there is even a faint echo of ‘The Lake Isle of Innisfree’ in the way the final stanza echoes the first. Yet the poem, which deals with the loss of true love through the cycle of the seasons, also has an aura of personal sadness as if Pinter is grafting his own feelings about the transience of passion onto a standard Irish form.


‘Romantic Ireland’s dead and gone’, wrote Yeats in ‘September, 1913’, ‘It’s with O’Leary in the grave’. But, without being sentimental about it, Ireland had a profound effect on Pinter in many ways. It became part of his imaginative landscape permeating his plays from The Birthday Party to Betrayal. As Professor Harry White wrote, on the occasion of the Dublin Gate Theatre’s Pinter Festival in 1994, ‘Pinter draws on his experience of Ireland or refers to Ireland in essentially two ways. Ireland symbolises the past and is an agent of romantic or nostalgic recollection or it embodies and encodes the threat of violence.’ But Ireland was, above all, for Pinter in the early 1950s, a place of discovery. He delighted in the small towns, villages and constantly changing landscape of the country itself. As a poet, he gained new access to his own feelings: partly through the hammer-blow of love, partly through reading Yeats. And as an actor-writer, Pinter was exposed to a wide variety of influences: not only to Mac’s magisterial control of an audience, but also to the practical techniques of individual playwrights. It was part of Mac’s policy to interweave Shakespeare, Sophocles and Wilde with Agatha Christie whodunnits and moral thrillers like Priestley’s An Inspector Calls. One particular play on which Pinter worked in his last Irish season seems to have seized his imagination: Patrick Hamilton’s Rope. In this psychological thriller about two Oxford undergraduates who murder a contemporary out of bravado and vanity, and hide the body in an on-stage chest, Pinter himself played the dominant, bullying Brandon and Patrick Magee the hysterical, jittery Granillo – prototypes, in a way, of Goldberg and McCann. Pinter wrote to his English friends that it was a work of great genius. A letter to Barry Foster declares ‘What subtlety! What silence!’


Yet the biggest discovery of all was of a writer who was to become both a literary influence and a close personal friend. For Pinter it was a genuine coup de foudre: ‘One day I came across, I stumbled across, a poetry magazine called Poetry Ireland edited by David Marcus in which I found a fragment of Beckett’s Watt. I was stunned by it but I couldn’t get hold of this David Marcus because the magazine telephone never answered so I never found out who this man Beckett was. I went back to London and no library or bookshop had ever heard of Beckett. Finally I went to the Westminster Library and asked them to burrow in their records and they came up with a book that had been in the Battersea Reserve Library since 1938 and that was Murphy. After a couple of weeks, I got it, pinched it and still have it … I suddenly felt that what his writing was doing was walking through a mirror into the other side of the world which was, in fact, the real world. What I seemed to be confronted with was a writer inhabiting his innermost self. The book was also very funny. I never forgot the laughs I immediately got from reading Beckett. But what impressed me was something about the quick of the world. It was Beckett’s own world but had so many references to the world we actually share.’


It’s fascinating that Pinter seizes on Beckett’s ability to create his own unique yet universally recognisable world. For precisely what Pinter himself did in the four years between standing trial as a conscientious objector – something he has remained ever since – and leaving Mac’s tours in Ireland was to map out his own universe. In Kullus, in ‘Episode’, in The Queen of all the Fairies, he writes of a world of territorial battle, of attritional sexual conflict, of profound social decay. In the memoir, while waiting one night for Henry Woolf he has an almost Blakean vision of the London streets with ‘Carthorses lugging Etruscan crockery to the fire. Saucers and daffodils broken in the moon. Some vomit of A-bombs and H-bombs.’ By his early twenties, Pinter had already created his own private landscape. He had even fashioned a style of jaunty stoicism with which to shield himself against the terrors of the world. At the same time he remained wide open to external influences. ‘What was striking about Harold at the time,’ says Barry Foster, ‘was not just that the literary talent was there, but also an artistic sensibility. It was evident just in the way he talked about other writers.’ Pinter’s good taste is crucial to an understanding of him. For allied to his own dream landscape was an eclectic artistic pantheon that included Shakespeare, Yeats, Beckett, Patrick Hamilton and the films of Buñuel. Out of that collision would ultimately come a major body of work. But having decided to quit Mac’s company in 1953 after five craft-improving seasons, he was once more a jobbing actor with a living to earn, as well as a writer with his own dark, mysterious portfolio.



















Three


Baron Hardup





Over the next three years from 1953 to 1956, Pinter led a curious double life. On the one hand there was the aspiring actor: in and out of work, slogging round the reps, dispatching endless letters to prospective employers. On the other hand there was the closet writer: penning poems and prose-sketches and, in every spare moment, writing an autobiographical novel in a series of exercise books. As an actor, Pinter frequently chafed against the drudgery of his craft. When his old mate Henry Woolf wrote to him in Ireland saying that he too intended to take up acting, Pinter replied, ‘What do you want to go into this shit-house for? This shit-house of a profession. You’ll meet very few people you want to have a drink with. Of course, it can be good. It can be gold and diamonds but there’s also bags of the other stuff.’ Despite that, Pinter – with characteristic generosity – helped Woolf get a job in Mac’s company, and although Pinter’s artistic soul was hardly satisfied by years of flogging round the reps playing CID inspectors, maniacal killers and family solicitors, he absorbed an enormous amount about the hidden techniques of stagecraft and the mechanics of suspense. Pinter may have lived two lives as actor and writer; but one constantly informed the other. Indeed, it’s no accident that the two best English dramatists to have emerged in the late 1950s – Pinter and Osborne – were both products of the educative treadmill of weekly rep.


According to Barry Foster, what both he and Pinter dreamed of – over pints of Guinness in Irish tap-rooms – was being famous classical actors who would star at Stratford or the Old Vic; neither of them, he ruefully points out, did it. Ironically, if Pinter had made it to Stratford in 1953, he would have found the company contained two actors – Donald Pleasence and Robert Shaw – whose lives and careers were decisively to intersect with his own. In fact, he auditioned in December 1952 for Donald Wolfit’s company which was planning a three-month eight-play season at the King’s Theatre, Hammersmith, early in 1953. Ronald Harwood, then a young actor recently arrived from South Africa, remembers going to the same auditions at the Waldorf Hotel in London’s Aldwych. ‘I was sitting waiting for my audition or interview,’ says Harwood, ‘and I remember a young man came bounding down the stairs in a state of high excitement and saying to the beautiful redheaded girl who was waiting for him, “I’ve got it. I’ve got it.” That was my first encounter with Harold. My initial impression was of how handsome he was; he also had a tough stage presence and a remarkably strong, resonant voice.’ For Pinter, joining Wolfit’s classical troupe straight after Mac’s was like going from the Irish frying-pan into the English fire. Wolfit and McMaster were the last of the great actor-managers. Both had found fame at Stratford in the 1930s, both were nomadic figures touring at home and abroad with a portable Shakespearean repertory, and both ran their companies on patriarchal lines. But where Mac was a benevolent dominator who enjoyed the ‘crack’ with his company, Wolfit was an old-fashioned autocrat aggrieved at his treatment by the theatrical Establishment and not best known either for the quality of his supporting players or his generosity towards them. ‘Every actor’, James Agate once wrote of Wolfit, ‘is known by the company he keeps’, implying that his was not of the best. Within the pyramidal structure of Mac’s company, there was a good deal of freedom and scope for development. Such was not the case with Wolfit and Pinter soon found his own unbending spirit clashing with his master’s heavy-handed directorial style. In the first play of the season, As You Like It, Pinter was cast in the thankless role of Jaques de Boys and found it fell to him to come on at the end and deliver the deathless lines ‘Let me have audience for a word or two, I am the second son of old Sir Rowland’. As Pinter, at the dress rehearsal, tentatively appeared from the wings, Wolfit thundered from his seat in the stalls, ‘No, no, no, no. Nonsense. This is your moment. Give it some attack, panache. Get off and do it again.’ A second appearance was greeted with an even greater volley of abuse. But the third and fourth times he appeared, Pinter cunningly preempted Wolfit by stopping in the middle of the second line and making an unscripted early exit. He paused in the wings again before entering for the fifth time to deliver the speech uninterrupted. Wolfit was reduced to speechless apoplexy while Pinter learned an important lesson in the strategy of survival.


Paternalism, as Ronald Harwood points out in his excellent biography of Wolfit, was at the heart of the actor-manager system: ‘The supporting players were expected to conform to the rules of the family and the first rule was a proper deference to Father both on and off the stage.’ But Pinter, whose symbol was the untugged forelock, refused to display unquestioning filial obedience. On one occasion, he objected to being summoned to a Sunday charity matinée performance at only a few days’ notice and, to Wolfit’s evident displeasure, was the only company member not to appear. ‘The thing people don’t understand about Harold,’ says Harwood, ‘is that he’s always been the same. It’s not fame that’s made him vibrant, aggressive or antiauthoritarian. That’s how he always was. He was very firm with Wolfit. I remember I was given a stutter as the tailor in The Taming of the Shrew and Harold complained to Wolfit about it because he thought it was making fun of a disability.’


Though unwilling to kowtow to Wolfit, Pinter does not deny that he was a great actor with an ability to take the moment and to invest even silence with maximum voltage. The young critic Kenneth Tynan picked out the self-same quality when reviewing Wolfit’s Lear in the Hammersmith season. ‘Best of all’, he wrote, ‘is the pause that follows his fit of rage at Cornwall’s cruelty. “Tell the hot duke –” he begins and then stops in mid-eruption, veins knotted, fighting hideously to keep his foothold on the tiny ledge which stands between him and madness.’ Pinter, on stage every night, was in an even better position to observe Wolfit’s capacity to electrify silence and recalls one particular passage towards the end of Oedipus at Colonus. ‘Wolfit,’ he says, ‘was standing high up on a rostrum with all the light on him … he stood with his back to the audience with a cloak around him and there came the moment when the man downstage finished his speech and we all knew, the play demanded it, that Wolfit or Oedipus was going to turn and speak. He held the moment until one’s stomach was truly trembling and the cloak came round; a tremendous swish that no one else has ever been able to achieve, I think. And the savagery and power that emerged from such a moment was extraordinary.’ Pinter’s own theatrical chamber style seems superficially different from that of these grand elemental titans – like Wolfit and McMaster – to whom he was apprenticed, but as a writer, what he learned from both was how to achieve moments of maximum intensity through silence or gesture. In a Pinter play, the movement of a glass from one side of a table to another or the simple crossing and uncrossing of a pair of legs becomes the equivalent of Wolfit’s cloak.
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